The Chemistry of Azetidin-3-ones, Oxetan-3-ones, and Thietan-3-ones

Yves Dejaegher,[‡] Nina M. Kuz'menok,[§] Alexander M. Zvonok,[§] and Norbert De Kimpe^{*,‡}

Department of Organic Chemistry, Faculty of Agricultural and Applied Biological Sciences, Ghent University, Coupure Links 653, B-9000 Ghent, Belgium, and Department of Organic Chemistry, Belarus State University of Technology, Sverdlov Street 13a, Minsk 220630, Belarus

Received October 27, 2000

Contents

Ι.	Introduction			
II.	The Chemistry of Azetidin-3-ones			
	A. Structural Data			
	B. Synthetic Methods for Azetidin-3-ones			
	B.1.	Carbonyl Group Generation in the Azetidine Ring	31	
	B.2.	Intramolecular Cyclization Reactions	34	
	B.3.	1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Reactions	36	
	C. Ch	emical Properties of Azetidin-3-ones	37	
	C.1.	Transformations of the Carbonyl Group	37	
	C.2.	Condensation Reactions – Synthesis of 2-Benzylideneazetidin-3-ones	40	
	C.3.	Ring Transformations of Azetidin-3-ones	40	
	C.4.	Miscellaneous	41	
III.	The C	hemistry of Oxetan-3-ones	42	
	A. Str	uctural Data	42	
	B. Sy	nthetic Methods for Oxetan-3-ones	43	
	B.1.	Decomposition of Diazoketones	43	
	B.2.	Oxidation Reactions	44	
	B.3.	Intramolecular Displacement Reactions	46	
	B.4.	Miscellaneous	47	
	C. Chemical Properties of Oxetan-3-ones			
	C.1.	Ring Opening and Ring Expansion of Oxetan-3-ones	48	
	C.2.	Transformations of the Carbonyl Group	49	
IV.	The C	hemistry of Thietan-3-ones	50	
	A. Sy	nthetic Methods for Thietan-3-ones	51	
	A.1.	Synthesis from Acyclic Precursors	51	
	A.2.	Synthesis by Ring Transformations	53	
	B. Ch	emical Properties of Thietan-3-ones	54	
	B.1.	Transformations of the Carbonyl Group	55	
	B.2.	Aldol Reactions	56	
	B.3.	Ring Transformations	56	
V.	Acknow	wledgments	58	
VI.	Refere	nces	58	

I. Introduction

The aim of this review is to cover the literature of 3-azetidinones, 3-oxetanones, and 3-thietanones, including partially 3-thietanone-1-oxides and 3-thietanone-1,1-dioxides. Each of these small heterocyclic

[‡] Ghent University.

ring systems will be treated in detail in separate chapters, the main lines being at first a short statement about structural information of the heterocyclic system concerned, second, an overview of the methods available for the synthesis of the particular heterocycle, and finally, a discussion on the reactivity of the ring system.

II. The Chemistry of Azetidin-3-ones

Among azetidine derivatives, compounds carrying a carbonyl group at either position 2 or position 3 occupy a special place (Figure 1). The former are



Figure 1.

represented as β -lactams **1** (azetidin-2-ones), monobactam antibiotics, and natural bicyclic azetidin-2one derivatives, e.g., penicillins, cefalosporins, thienamycins, etc.¹⁻¹⁷

Much less widespread are azetidin-3-ones **2**, which are not yet found in nature. However, azetidin-3-ones have been proposed for use in the synthesis of other natural compounds of the azetidine series, in particular, 3-ethylideneazetidin-2-carboxylic acid (polyoximic acid), which is a part of the structure of the nucleoside tripeptide antibiotic polyoxines.^{18–22} Very recently, 3,3-dihydroxyazetidine **3**, the hydrate of azetidin-3-one, was isolated from the supernatant of a culture of *Bacillus mesentericus*.²³ This azetidine **3** is a new growth-promoting factor, stimulating the growth of several strains of *Bifidobacterium*.²³

The rare synthetic representatives of azetidin-3ones can be mainly obtained by oxidation of azetidin-3-ols, ring contraction of pyrrolidin-3,4-diones, or aziridine ring expansion and intramolecular heterocyclization reactions (vide infra).

A. Structural Data

The four-membered azetidin-3-one ring has a nonplanar structure. The first X-ray investigation was carried out on 1-*p*-toluenesulfonyl-2-ethylazetidin-3one **4** (Figure 2).²⁵ It was shown that the deviation of the nitrogen atom from the plane of the three-ring

^{*} To whom correspondence should be addressed.

[§] Belarus State University of Technology.



Yves Dejaegher was born in Izegem, Belgium, in 1974. He received his engineering diploma in chemistry from the Ghent University, Belgium, in 1997, where he carried out research under the guidance of Prof. Norbert De Kimpe, studying electrophile-induced ring closures towards nitrogencontaining heterocycles. Subsequently, he enrolled in a Ph.D. program at the Department of Organic Chemistry, Faculty of Agricultural and Applied Biological Sciences, Ghent University. Currently, he is in the fourth year of the program, and his interests include synthesis, ring transformations, and reactivity of small-ring heterocycles.



Nina Kuz'menok was born in 1953 in Belarus. She graduated with honors from the Belarus State University in Minsk in 1975 and worked as research associate with Prof. A. M. Zvonok at the Scientific Research Institute of Physical Chemical Problems of the Belarus State University. She obtained her Ph.D. degree in 1983. Since 1990, she has been an Assistant Professor at the Department of Organic Chemistry at the Belarus State University of Technology where she is presently working on organic synthesis of heterocyclic compounds.

carbon atoms is 0.35 Å, and the inflection of the ring along the C–C line is 15° . Substituents at nitrogen and carbon C2 occupy the most favorable pseudo-equatorial positions.

It is important to notice that the lengths of the C–C bonds in the heterocyclic ring are not identical. In particular, the C3–C4 bond length is 1.505 Å, which corresponds to a Csp³–Csp² bond, and the C2–C3 bond has a length of 1.554 Å. The bond angles C2–C3–O and C4–C3–O are equal, as well as the bond lengths N–C2 and N–C4. Apparently, the lengthening of the C–C bond in compound **4** does not result from a steric interaction between the ethyl substituent and the carbonyl group but reflects an electronic structure of the nonsymmetrically substituted azetidin-3-one.²⁵

Quantum mechanical calculations of the azetidin-3-one structure, executed in the minimum basis OST-



Alexander M. Zvonok was born in 1950 in Kletsk, Belarus. He finished his chemistry studies at the Belarus State University in 1972. In 1975, he received the doctoral degree (Ph.D.) in organic chemistry. From 1972 to 1991, he performed research as senior scientific researcher at the Belarus State University. He received his Doctor of Science (Dr.Sc.) degree in 1990 for his research on intramolecular cyclization of functional substituted epoxyketones. In 1992, he obtained the status of professor. Since 1991, he is the Head of the Department of Organic Chemistry at the Belarus State University of Technology. His current research interest concerns the development of new synthetic methodology of heterocyclic compounds. He has published about 200 scientific articles and owns 45 patents.



Norbert De Kimpe obtained the diploma of chemical agricultural engineer in 1971, the Ph.D. degree in 1975, and the habilitation degree in 1985, all from Ghent University. He performed postdoctoral research work at the University of Massachusetts, Harbor Campus, at Boston (USA) (1979) and at the Centre National de Recherche Scientifique in Thiais, Paris (France) (1983), where he worked on unstable nitrogen-substituted sulfenyl derivatives and electron-deficient carbenium ions, respectively. He made his scientific career at the Belgian National Fund for Scientific Research where he went through all stages up to the position of Research Director. During this career, he was affiliated with the Department of Organic Chemistry, Faculty of Agricultural and Applied Biological Sciences at the University of Ghent, where he took up teaching positions since 1987. He is now Professor in organic chemistry at the latter institution. He was a guest-professor at the Centre Universitaire de Recherche sur la Pharmacopée et la Médecine Traditionelle in Butare (Rwanda, Central Africa), and at the Universities of Perpignan (France), Helsinki (Finland), Leuven (Belgium), Siena (Italy), Barcelona (Spain), Sofia (Bulgaria), Buenos Aires (Argentina), and Pretoria (South Africa). He was awarded the degree of Doctor honoris causa from the Russian Academy of Sciences in Novosibirsk (Russia) in 1998. He is the author of 300 articles in international peer-reviewed journals. His research interests include (1) the synthesis of heterocyclic compounds, with focus on agrochemicals, pharmaceuticals, and natural products, (2) flavor chemistry, and (3) the bioassay-guided isolation of physiologically active natural products from medicinal plants.

3GF, concerned mainly the elucidation of orbital interactions in small rings (data also included the



Figure 2.

oxetan-3-one and thietan-3-one structure).²⁶ The results obtained were in good agreement with photoelectronic and infrared spectroscopy data. IR absorption bands of the carbonyl group of azetidin-3-ones appear in most cases in the region of 1800-1835 cm⁻¹. The high frequencies of the C=O bond absorption underline the significant strain in the fourmembered ring.^{29,78} In addition, the stretching frequency does not change appreciably from that observed for cyclobutanone, underlining the fact that trans-annular participation (conjugation) is not that important. It is noted that p-orbital interactions through bonds in azetidin-3-ones play a not less essential role than trans-annular interactions through space.²⁶

The absolute values of distant coupling constants (⁴*J*) in ¹H NMR spectra, which are rather large, provide the evidence of this fact. Thus, in 2-methyl-, 2-ethyl-, and 2-benzyl-1-tosylazetidin-3-ones **6**, ⁴*J*_{trans} values were of 2.70, 3.63, and 4.05 Hz, respectively.²⁵ Coupling constant values of ⁴*J*_{cis} (see structure **5**) were smaller, i.e., ~2.0 Hz (Figure 3).



Figure 3.

Contrary to planar three-membered heterocycles such as oxiranes and aziridines, where ${}^{3}J_{trans}$ is smaller than ${}^{3}J_{cis}$, in azetidines and azetidin-3-ones ${}^{4}J_{trans}$ is larger than ${}^{4}J_{cis}$. A distant coupling constant ${}^{4}J$ of the pseudoaxial proton 4a' of the azetidine ring with the axial proton at position 1 of the *N*-cyclohexyl substituent appeared in 2-hydroxymethyl-2-methyl-4-(α -methoxybenzyl)-1-cyclohexylazetidin-3-one.²⁷ In the case of *N*-protected (Boc or *Z*)-2-alkyl- or 2-(arylmethyl)azetidin-3-ones, also a W-coupling in the order of 4.2–4.4 Hz has been observed between H–C2 and H–C4 on the same side of the ring.²⁸

The mass spectra of azetidin-3-ones have been investigated in detail.³⁰ It has been noted that the fragmentation of azetidin-3-ones is accompanied by an extrusion of carbon monoxide.³¹ However, *N*unsubstituted azetidin-3-ones may undergo the mass spectral fragmentation with the extrusion of a ketene unit.³⁰ The character of the mass spectra of azetidin-3-ones is determined by the ionization conditions. In most cases, under the conditions of electron impact, it is possible to detect the molecular ion peak. However, for *N*-(arenesulfonyl)azetidin-3-ones, the molecular ion peak appears for compounds carrying an electron-donating substituent in the benzene ring. Initially, under electron impact conditions, azetidin-3-ones eliminate carbon monoxide, together with a four-membered ring cleavage and subsequent aziridinium ion-radical formation, which further decomposes by various paths, first of all with ring cleavage, and then with nitrogen substituent extrusion and elimination of other substituents, present in the molecule.³⁰ In mass spectra of azetidin-3-ones, recorded under chemical ionization conditions (2-methylpropene as reactant gas), the intensive signal of the protonated molecular ion is present. In contrast to mass spectra recorded under the conditions of electron impact, an ion-radical of *N*-unsubstituted azetidin-3-one or its structural isomer, i.e., aminomethyloxirene, is present.³⁰

B. Synthetic Methods for Azetidin-3-ones

The synthetic methods for azetidin-3-ones can be grouped as follows:

1. Reactions based on carbonyl group generation in the azetidine ring

2. Reactions of intramolecular cyclization of acyclic carbonyl-containing substrates

3. 1,3-Dipolar cycloaddition of azomethin ylides or their synthetic equivalents to isonitriles

B.1. Carbonyl Group Generation in the Azetidine Ring

B.1a. Oxidation of Azetidin-3-ols. The most obvious way of carbonyl group introduction into an azetidine ring consists of the oxidation of the corresponding azetidin-3-ols 8, of which the convenient synthesis is based on the reaction of primary amines with epihalohydrines 7.^{32–37} Although azetidin-3-ols 8 became available due to Gaertner's research,³² the oxidation of these compounds was developed much later^{31,38} since not all oxidizing agents seemed to be effective to perform this transformation. As a rule, the use of very reactive oxidizing agents resulted in cleavage and fragmentation of the azetidine ring, while in the case of mild reagents, oxidation did not proceed at all, and the starting alcohol was recovered. The Jones reagent was used successfully as an oxidant under carefully controlled conditions (Scheme 1).31,38

Scheme 1



The resulting 1-substituted azetidin-3-ones **9** are unstable at room temperature. However, compound **9a** can be kept at 0-5 °C during several weeks without noticeable decomposition, while compound **9b** under these conditions decomposed for more than 60% over a period of 12 h.

Azetidin-3-ones **11** were also obtained from the corresponding 3-azetidinols by oxidation with a complex of sulfur trioxide and pyridine in dimethyl sulfoxide in the presence of triethylamine (Scheme 2).^{39,40} The reaction proceeded with good yield only in the case of 1-benzhydryl-3-azetidinone **11a** and



1-cyclohexyl-2-phenyl-3-azetidinone **11b**. In all other cases, dimeric products **12** were formed, apparently in relation to the high reactivity of the intermediate azetidin-3-ones.⁴⁰ The dimeric compounds **12a**,**c**–**e** originated from an aldol-type condensation of the resulting products (Table 1). Steric hindrance, im-

 Table 1. Yields of Normal Oxidation Products 11 and

 Condensation Products 12

R	R ¹	azetidin-3-one 11	yield, %	aldol product 12	yield, %
(C ₆ H ₅) ₂ CH	H	a	80	a	16
cyclo-C ₆ H ₁₁	C ₆ H ₅	b	67	b	
t-C ₄ H ₉	H	c		c	1.5
cyclo-C ₆ H ₁₁	H	d		d	33
C ₆ H ₅ (CH ₃)CH	H	e		e	30

posed by the substituents on nitrogen and C2 of the ring system, might play a role in these results.

The same reagent was used for the oxidation of *N*-benzoylazetidin-3-ol to the corresponding ketone, which was further transformed in 1-substituted-3-phenylazetidin-3-ols and their propionates, showing analgesic activity in warm-blooded animals.^{41,42}

Other reagents that have been used for the transformation of azetidin-3-ols into azetidin-3-ones include trifluoroacetic anhydride, oxalyl chloride (Scheme 3), and phosphoric acid/dicyclohexyl-carbo-

Scheme 3



diimide in dimethyl sulfoxide (Swern-type oxidations). $^{43-46}$

Although it has been reported that several Cr(VI)based oxidative methods fail for this type of conversion,²⁴ more recently, the oxidation of *N*-acetyl-3hydroxyazetidine **15** and *N*-nitro-3-azetidinol **17** has been carried out using pyridinium dichromate and pyridinium chlorochromate, respectively.⁴⁷ Also chromium trioxide in acetic acid has been used with great success in the conversion of 1-tosylazetidin-3-ol **19** into 1-tosylazetidin-3-one **20** (Scheme 4).⁴⁸

Apparently, the protection of the nitrogen atom of the azetidin-3-one ring with electron-withdrawing substituents, allowed the use of more general oxida-





tive reagents for the conversion of the azetidin-3-ols to the corresponding ketones.

B.1b. Oxidative Ring Contraction. The first representative of the azetidin-3-ones series, i.e., 1-acetyl-2,2,4,4-tetramethylazetidin-3-one **29**, was obtained by sequential ring contraction reactions of 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidin-4-one **21** into 2,2,5,5-tetramethylpyrrolidin-3,4-dione **26**, which was transformed into 2,2,4,4-tetramethyl-3-hydroxyazetidin-3-carboxylic acid **28** by rearrangement, and the oxidation of the latter by lead(IV) acetate (Scheme 5).²⁹





This described methodology for the synthesis of azetidin-3-ones was used many times by other authors.^{49,50} The distinctions consist only in starting materials, where *N*-benzoyl derivatives instead of *N*-acetyl derivatives were applied, and in ways of obtaining the starting pyrrolidin-3,4-dione **26**. So the latter might be prepared by oxidation of the corresponding pyrrolidin-3-one **24** by selenium dioxide.⁴⁹

An analogous oxidation reaction, using lead(IV) acetate, has been described.⁵¹ 1-Benzoyl-3-hydroxy-2,2,4,4-tetramethylazetidin-3-carboxylic acid (the *N*-benzoyl analogue of compound **28**) was esterified using diazomethane and subsequently reduced under the action of lithium aluminum hydride. The resulting *N*-benzylazetidinediol was oxidized by lead(IV) acetate, resulting in 1-benzyl-2,2,4,4-tetramethylazetidin-3-one.⁵¹ Drawbacks of this method are the rather long reaction pathway and the ability to synthesize only tetrasubstituted azetidin-3-one derivatives.

Azetidin-3-one **29** was also obtained as a sideproduct during the preparation of 1-acetyl-2,2,4,4tetramethylazetidin-3-carboxylic acid via photolysis of 1-acetyl-4-diazo-2,2,5,5-tetramethylpyrrolidin-3one.⁵⁰

B.1c. Miscellaneous Reactions of Generation of the Carbonyl Group in the Azetidine Ring. Several reports appeared on the synthesis of azetidin-3-ones by ozonolysis of alkylidene azetidines **31** (Scheme 6).^{52–56} The latter compounds can be ob-

Scheme 6



tained by reaction of 1-aza-3-ethylbicyclo[1.1.0]butane **30** with triflic anhydride^{52,53} or benzoyltrifluoromethanesulfonate,⁵⁴ by reaction of *N*-nitro-3ethylazetidin-3-ol with triflic anhydride in the presence of DMAP⁵³ or by reaction of *N*-(ethoxycarbonyl)-3-(bromomethyl)-3-chloroazetidine with potassium *tert*butoxide⁵⁵ or by zinc promoted eliminative dehalogenation of *N*-acyl-3-(bromomethyl)-3-chloroazetidines.⁵⁶

Subsequent ozonolysis of 3-alkylideneazetidines **31** yielded the corresponding azetidin-3-ones **32**. The same authors described the formation of azetidin-3-ones, e.g., **35**, by oxidative cleavage of the corresponding oxime **33** by sequential reaction with 100% nitric acid and 90% hydrogen peroxide (Scheme 7),

Scheme 7



the major reaction product being the 3,3-dinitroazetidine **34**.⁵³ Probably, under the applied conditions, the starting oxime **33** hydrolyzed again to the azetidin-3-one **35**.

This research has been done toward the synthesis of 1,3,3-trinitroazetidine **37** (TNAZ), a new energetic material with favorable detonation performance and other favorable properties, including low melting Scheme 8



point, good thermal stability, low density, and low sensitivity (Scheme 8).^{48,57,58} Approaches for the synthesis of TNAZ often start from the suitable azetidin-3-ones that are subsequently converted in the oximes and then treated with nitric acid. More recently, other methods and processes for preparing TNAZ and its intermediates, i.e., *N*-acetyl-3,3-dinitroazetidine (ADNAZ) and *N*-nitroazetidine were disclosed.^{59,60} However, they do not concern the subject of this review.

Another reaction pathway that involved azetidin-3-ones was obtained by flash vacuum thermolysis of 3-azido-2,2-dimethyl-3-phenylazetidine.⁶¹ Thermolysis in the gas phase at 350 °C under a pressure of 1.5×10^{-3} Torr generated an intermediate nitrene that rearranged in two isomeric dihydroimidazoles and also yielded the *N*-phenylimine of 1-methoxycarbonyl-2,2-dimethylazetidin-3-one. The latter compound hydrolyzed to the azetidin-3-one upon column chromatography.⁶¹

Acidic hydrolysis of 1-acetyl-3-acetoxyazetine **38** afforded the parent azetidin-3-one hydrochloride **39**,⁶² although other authors were not able to repeat this experiment and expressed doubt about the correctness of these data (Scheme 9).²⁴

Scheme 9



Another elegant way for generating a ketone function is the hydrolysis of the corresponding acetal. Electroreduction of the aromatic imine **40** in the presence of chlorotrimethylsilane as a trapping agent of the anion intermediate resulted in ethyl 3-methoxy-2-phenyl-3-[(trimethylsilyl)oxy]-1-azetidinecarboxylate **41**, which was easily hydrolyzed to the corresponding 3-azetidinone **42** (Scheme 10).⁶³

Scheme 10



Scheme 11



Also a new and straightforward synthesis of 2,4unsubstituted 3-azetidinones is based on the hydrolysis of acetals **44**, obtained by cyclization of brominated aldimines **43** (Scheme 11).⁶⁴ The starting imines **43** are easily synthesized by reaction of 2,2,3tribromopropylamine hydrobromide with the corresponding aldehydes. Subsequent treatment with sodium borohydride in methanol results in reduction of the imine, followed by intramolecular nucleophilic substitution to form 3,3-dimethoxyazetidines **44**, after methanolysis of the geminal dibromo functionality. The resulting 3,3-dimethoxyazetidines **44** were hydrolyzed by concentrated sulfuric acid, yielding 2,4unsubstituted 3-azetidinones **45**.⁶⁴

B.2. Intramolecular Cyclization Reactions

B.2a. Cyclization of α -Diazoketones. Despite apparent evidence of achievement of results in the synthesis of azetidin-3-ones with the use of oxidation methods of the corresponding alcohols, the bicyclic fused derivatives of azetidin-3-ones were obtained by cyclization reactions much earlier (Scheme 12). The first results on the cyclization of diazoacetylpyrazoline **48** into 1,2-diazabicyclo[3.2.0]hept-2-en-6-one **50** were published as early as 1959.⁶⁵

The cyclization of **48** proceeded in acidic medium in the presence of acetic acid. The basis of formation of the rather strained bicyclic four-membered structure can be explained by the high reactivity of the intermediate carbocation and the good leaving group capacities of molecular nitrogen.

The decomposition of diazo compounds was also initiated photochemically (Scheme 13). Thus, when penicillin-related systems were studied, 6β -phthalimidopenicillane diazoketone **51** was irradiated in a water-dioxane mixture, and the starting substrate concentration was monitored by the diazo group absorption in the IR spectrum at 2110 cm⁻¹, giving rise to the 6β -phthalimidohomopenicillanic acid **52**.^{66,67} Scheme 12



Scheme 13



Contrary to 6β -phthalimido derivatives, which isomerized photochemically into compounds **52**, phenoxyacetamido derivatives of 6-aminopenicillanic acid **53** were transformed by treatment with 1 N hydrochloric acid into a mixture of the α -chloroketone **54** and the fused azetidin-3-one **55** (Scheme 14).⁶⁷

Scheme 14



 α -Diazoketone cyclization into bicyclic azetidin-3ones proceeded also in a neutral solution in the presence of rhodium salts. This technique was used for the synthesis of some analogues of carbapenem acids, possessing antibiotic and antibacterial properties (Scheme 15).⁶⁸ A representative example con-

Scheme 15



cerns the conversion of α -diazoketone **56** into the 1-azabicyclo[3.2.0]heptane-2,6-dione **57**.

The synthesis of monocyclic azetidin-3-ones was accomplished by cyclization of α' -sulfamoyl- α -diazoketones **58** in acidic medium (Scheme 16).^{25,69–71}

Scheme 16



For the decomposition of diazo compounds, inorganic acids or carboxylic acids were used. In the case of more nucleophilic agents (acetic acid, hydrochloric acid), linear products, such as α -acetoxymethyl ketones and α -chloromethyl ketones, were obtained. The ratio of azetidin-3-ones to acyclic products did not depend on the nature of the substituent on the benzene ring of the sulfamide. The yield of cyclization products increased in the presence of an alkyl or benzyl substituent on the α -position of the diazoketone.

The investigation of the acetolysis of α' -sulfamido- α -diazoketones **61** led to similar results (Scheme 17).⁷² Also in this case, the presence of an additional

Scheme 17



 α '-substituent (R = CH₃, C₆H₅) seemed to be profitable for the cyclization toward azetidin-3-ones.

With decomposition of diazoketones in methylene chloride in the presence of catalytic copper bis-(hexafluoroacetylacetonate), the yield of azetidin-3-ones **62** from α -diazoketones **61** rose from 25 to 60 to 80%.⁷²

Application of Wolff rearrangement conditions, i.e., the use of silver benzoate dissolved in triethylamine as catalyst in methanol, to diazoketones derived from α -amino acids gave both normal Wolff rearrangement products **66** as the insertion products **65** (Scheme 18).⁷³ The different product ratios were explained by

Scheme 18



the different degree of steric hindrance of the side chain of the amino acid derivatives. Under these conditions, the possibility of a free carbene in the diazo decomposition was suggested.⁷³ In contrast to previous results (see Scheme 17), here, the additional substitution decreased the yield of azetidin-3-ones. Apparently, in these cases, the reaction pathway is directed by the conditions and reagents used to decompose the diazo compounds.

A similar case had already been described for the N-tosyl-L-alanine derived diazoketone under treatment with aqueous silver nitrate, resulting in the formation of the corresponding 3-azetidinone.⁷⁴

The use of rhodium acetate in the decomposition of diazo compounds is widespread, which is also reflected in the synthesis of 3-azetidinones.^{21,28,75,76,78} As an example, treatment of the diazo compound **67** with rhodium acetate in benzene gave the corresponding 3-azetidinone in 62% yield (Scheme 19).⁷⁵

Scheme 19



In this context, a new synthesis of α -amino- α' diazomethyl ketones has been described very recently via ring opening of triethyl[(1-methoxy-2,2-dimethylcyclopropyl)oxy]silane upon treatment with various alkyl azides.⁷⁶ The resulting diazoketones were also converted in the corresponding 3-azetidinones.⁷⁶

The use of copper(II) acetylacetonate in benzene has been reported to perform this intramolecular N–H insertion in a suitable way.⁷⁷

The general approach for the synthesis of four-, five-, and six-membered nitrogen, oxygen, and sulfur heterocycloalkanones, based on rhodium catalyzed intramolecular cyclization reactions of α -diazo- β -ketoesters, was applied to α -diazo- α '-aminoketones **69** to give access to 3-oxoazetidin-2-carboxylic esters **70** in quantitative yields (Scheme 20).⁷⁸

The cyclization of α -amino- α' -diazomethyl ketones has also been reported to occur in the ion source of a mass spectrometer. This method has been elaborated for electron impact ionization and chemical ionization and can potentially be used to predict the direction

Scheme 20



and yield in the acid-catalyzed cyclization of diazoketones in solution. $^{79}\,$

B.2b. Cyclization of α-Amino-α'-Halomethyl ketones and α'-Amino-α,β-Epoxyketones. There are only a few examples of the use of intramolecular cyclization reactions for the synthesis of azetidin-3-ones from α-amino-α'-haloketones. The successful cyclization of *N*-substituted 3-amino-3,3-dimethyl-1-bromobutan-2-ones **72** to 2,2-dimethylazetidin-3-ones **73** was probably caused by the presence of geminal dimethyl groups, promoting the formation of the strained ring by the Thorpe-Ingold effect (Scheme 21).^{80–83}

Scheme 21



This same cyclization method has been applied in the synthesis of 7-azetidinylquinolones, possessing antibacterial activity.⁸⁴ It was found that some azetidin-3-ones possess hypotensive activity, and azetidin-3-ols obtained from them (by reduction with NaBH₄ or reaction with PhLi) are central nervous system stimulators.⁸⁴

Also a tri-*n*-butyltinhydride/azoisobutyronitrileinduced radical intramolecular ring closure of α' anilino- α -(chloromethylcarbonyl)phenylacetonitriles **75** yielding 1,2-diaryl-2-cyanoazetidin-3-ones **76** in 72–77% yield has been reported (Scheme 22).⁸⁵

Scheme 22



It is known that the oxirane ring is an effective acceptor of nucleophilic functional groups in reactions of intramolecular cyclizations. In this connection, epihalohydrines are widely used in the synthesis of azetidin-3-ols. It was expected that the cyclization of α' -amino- α,β -epoxyketones will not proceed so unambiguously, in view of the possibility of four- and five-membered ring formation, and also due to the smaller conformational flexibility (less number of conformations favorable for cyclization are formed) of the carbonyl substrate (Scheme 23). The synthesis

Scheme 23



of functionalized azetidin-3-ones **78**, **80** was accomplished by cyclization of α' -amino- α,β -epoxyketones **77**, **79** complexed with boron trifluoride, in aprotic polar solvents.^{27,86–89} It was established that the heterocyclization proceeded stereospecifically, which was confirmed by transformation of both diastereomers with the erythro-configuration into the corresponding stereoisomeric 4-(arylmethoxymethyl)-2-hydroxymethyl-2-methyl-1-cyclohexylazetidin-3ones.

The mechanism of the formation of these compounds includes dissociation of the boron trifluoride complexes with recoordination of boron trifluoride from the nitrogen atom to the oxygen atom of the oxirane ring with subsequent intramolecular exoattack of the amino group at the destabilized α -C-O bond of the oxonium complex. Formally, the process can be considered as an intramolecular nucleophilic substitution of the oxirane oxygen atom by the amino group.⁸⁸

B.3. 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Reactions

Formally, the azetidin-3-one skeleton can be constructed by cycloaddition of an azomethine ylide with carbon monoxide. However, in the literature there are no data about the implementation of such possibility. There are nevertheless three reports about the [3+1]-cycloaddition of azomethine ylides, generated from aziridines or 1,2,3-triazolines to isonitriles (Scheme 24).^{90–92} Reaction of aziridines **81** with isocyanides afforded two diastereomeric azetidines **83**, which did not undergo epimerization in CDCl₃ solution.

Oxazolines **88** were not formed as a byproduct in this reaction in contrast to the case of unsymmetri-

Scheme 24



cally substituted azomethine ylides, generated from 1,2,3-triazolines **84** (Scheme 25).⁹²

Scheme 25



In these papers,^{90–92} the mechanism of cycloaddition and formation of cyclic and acyclic products was discussed in details, but there were no data available on the hydrolysis of 3-iminoazetidines **83**, **87** into azetidin-3-ones.

C. Chemical Properties of Azetidin-3-ones

Chemical properties of azetidin-3-ones, which are not substituted with functional groups, are determined by the presence of the carbonyl group and the nitrogen atom in the ring, providing the usual properties of ketones and amines. The presence of an additional functionality in the molecule gives the possibility of reactions with involvement of other substituents present in the molecule, and also of reactions with ring extension.

C.1. Transformations of the Carbonyl Group

Nucleophilic addition reactions across the carbonyl group of azetidin-3-ones were investigated most thoroughly. Reduction of unsubstituted and 2,4-substituted azetidin-3-ones by complex metal hydrides resulted in azetidin-3-ols **90** with a preferential *trans*-configuration of the substituents (Scheme 26).^{28,31,38,40,93}



The reduction of 4-(arylmethoxymethyl)-2-hydroxymethyl-2-methyl-1-cyclohexylazetidin-3-ones **91**, **93** with sodium borohydride led to the stereospecific formation of the corresponding azetidin-3-ols **92**, **94** (Scheme 27).⁸⁸ Probably, coordination of the reducing

Scheme 27



agent with the hydroxy-function blocked the corresponding face of the molecule, leading to hydride attack from the opposite face.

The addition of organometallic reagents, e.g., organolithium and organomagnesium derivatives, to azetidin-3-ones **95** resulted in the formation of tertiary alcohols **96** (Scheme 28),^{28,38,40,81,64,94,96} which

Scheme 28



display some biological activity, e.g., analgesic activity.^{41,42} Most of these results were obtained with electron-withdrawing or bulky substituents on the ring nitrogen atom. Attempts to dehydrate the azetidin-3-ols thus obtained failed.³⁸

Addition of methylmagnesium bromide to *N*-diphenylmethylazetidin-3-one, followed by a Ritter type reaction on the azetidin-3-ol, has been described in very low yield.⁹⁵ This low yield was explained by stablization of the intermediate carbocation by the ring nitrogen atom, allowing side reactions to occur.⁹⁵

With the purpose to have a possibility of variation of substituents at the nitrogen atom, *N*-benzoylazetidin-3-ones can be introduced in this reaction, with consequent removal of the benzoyl group and further chemical transformations (Scheme 29).⁴¹ In this perspective, also 1-benzhydryl-azetidin-3-one hydro-



chlorides have been used. Hydrogenolysis with Pd- $(OH)_2$ as catalyst under 60 psi H₂ gave the *N*-unsubstituted azetidin-3-one hydrochloride that could be further modified at nitrogen.^{24,57}

Direct treatment of 1-benzhydryl-3-azetidinones with excess methyl or ethyl chloroformate also afforded the corresponding 1-alkoxycarbonyl-3-azetidinones in quantitative yields.^{24,96}

Very recently, 1-(9-phenylfluorene-9-yl)-3-azetidinone **103** was converted to the corresponding MOMprotected stannyl alcohol **104** by sequential reaction with Bu₃SnLi/CeCl₃, followed by MOMCl/DIPEA.⁹⁷ The latter α -alkoxy- β -aminostannane **104** was used to investigate the synthesis and stability of the corresponding organolithium compound after tin– lithium exchange. The tin–lithium exchange was confirmed after quenching experiments with different electrophiles, e.g., D₂O and benzaldehyde (Scheme 30).⁹⁷ Furthermore, the stability of the intermediate

Scheme 30



organolithium compounds decreased with ring size of the azaheterocycle (the corresponding pyrrolidines and piperidines were included in this study), resulting in the formation of ring-opened alkenes.⁹⁷

A lot of typical reactions for the carbonyl group have also been performed on azetidin-3-ones. A short, but comprehensive, overview of these transformations is given in the remaining part of this chapter.

The reaction of potassium cyanide with 1-substituted azetidin-3-ones **106** in the presence of benzoyl chloride led to the formation of the cyanohydrine benzoate **107**, giving 3-hydroxyazetidin-3-carboxylic acids **108** after hydrolysis (Scheme 31).^{31,38,80}

Scheme 31



Heating of 1-benzylazetidin-3-one **109** with potassium cyanide and ammonium carbonate in ethanol gave rise to the formation of the spirohydantoin **110**, the classical precursor to the corresponding α -amino acids (Scheme 32).⁴⁰

Scheme 32



Reaction of 1-benzylazetidin-3-one **111** with sodium cyanide and benzylamine gave 3-benzylamino-3-cyanoazetidine **112** (Scheme 33). Further double

Scheme 33



N-debenzylation and reaction with sodium hydroxide yielded the corresponding α -amino acid **114** or its amide **115**.⁴⁴

The formation of 1-benzhydryl-*N*,*N*-dibenzylamino-3-ethynyl-3-azetidine **119** was obtained upon treatment of 1-benzhydryl-3-azetidinone **116** with dibenzylamine and ethynyl(trimethyl)silane in the presence of acetic acid (Scheme 34).⁹⁸

The reaction of the chiral azetidin-3-ones **120** with the lithium enolate of *tert*-butyl acetate led to the corresponding γ -amino- β -hydroxyester derivatives **121** in excellent diastereoselectivities (Scheme 35).²⁸

Azetidin-3-ones easily form oximes, hydrazones, and azines, which have found an application in the

Scheme 34





synthesis of other azetidine derivatives (Scheme 36).^{40,47,52,57,58,99} Examples in this respect concern the synthesis of compounds **123** and **129**. Also a Wolff–Kishner reduction of an azetidin-3-one has been performed (**124** \rightarrow **125**).⁵⁰ Further reduction and catalytic hydrogenolysis yielded compound **127**.

Thiadiazoline **131** was formed upon reaction of azine **129** with dihydrogen sulfide and subsequent oxidation of the thiadiazolidine with DEAD. Reflux of thiadiazoline **131** in toluene resulted in the loss of molecular nitrogen, while subsequent desulfurization of the bisspiro compound **132** by treatment with triphenylphosphine gave rise to the alkylidene(bis)-azetidine **133**.⁹⁹

Condensation of azetidin-3-ones with Wittig–Horner reagents led to the corresponding methylene derivatives **135** and **136** in yields of 25–92% (Scheme 37).^{18,20,24,40,55,100}

The reaction of azetidin-3-ones **137** with [(methoxycarbonyl)-methylidene]-triphenylphosphorane at elevated temperature afforded the unsaturated amino acid derivative **138** (Scheme 38). Although decreasing diastereoselectivity, reaction at elevated temperatures was needed since it was observed that the formation of the strained C=C bond took a higher than usual activation energy.²⁸ Hydrogenation of the C-C double bond gave the saturated ester **139** in a diastereomeric ratio of 1.4:1.²⁸

N-(Trifluoromethanesulfonyl)-3-(dibromomethylidene)azetidine was obtained from the reaction of the corresponding azetidin-3-one, carbon tetrabromide, and triphenylphosphine in toluene.⁵³

Azetidin-3-ones were used as starting materials for the generation of *N*-substituted-3-azetidinylidene carbenes **141** (Scheme 39). The reactive intermediates produced via base-promoted reactions of *N*-tosyland *N*-benzhydrylazetidin-3-ones with diethyldiazomethylphosphinate (DAMP) have been shown to be





vinylidenecarbenes rather than the corresponding cycloalkynes. Thus, *N*-tosylazetidin-3-ylcarbene **141** was trapped in situ by cyclohexene to afford a cycloadduct, i.e., 1-*p*-toluenesulfonyl-3-(7'-bicyclo-[4.1.0]heptanylidene)azetidine **142**.¹⁰¹

From these examples, it can be seen that azetidin-3-ones can serve as useful intermediates in the

Scheme 38





synthesis of more functionalized azetidines that are difficult to obtain otherwise.

C.2. Condensation Reactions – Synthesis of 2-Benzylideneazetidin-3-ones

The reactions of azetidin-3-ones with involvement of the α -carbon atoms are illustrated in the literature by one example, the aldol condensation (Scheme 40).

Azetidin-3-ones **143** are unstable compounds at elevated temperature as they give rise to selfcondensation. This aldol-type condensation of **143** to **144** ran smoothly in methanol at 50 °C.⁴⁰ In the

Scheme 40



presence of benzaldehyde, azetidin-3-ones **143** afforded the aldol product **145**, which could be acylated, the latter gave rise to elimination of acetic acid under thermal conditions, providing 2-benzylideneazetidin-3-ones **147**.⁴⁰ The aldol products **145** proved to be rather stable compounds, which only gave elimination upon more stringent reaction conditions.

Alternatively, 2-benzylideneazetidin-3-ones **150** were obtained also from 4-(arylmethoxymethyl)-2-hydroxy-methyl-2-methyl-1-cyclohexyl-azetidin-3-ones **148** by reaction with acetic anhydride (Scheme 41).⁷¹ De-

Scheme 41



pending on the acetylation conditions, either the corresponding acetates 149 or 4-arylidene-2-acetoxymethyl-2-methyl-1-cyclohexylazetidin-3-ones 150 were produced.⁸⁸

C.3. Ring Transformations of Azetidin-3-ones

The chemical transformations of bicyclic fused azetidin-3-ones **151** are distinguished by a diversity of reactions (Scheme 42).^{65,102,103}

Benzoylation of the bicyclic ketone 151 afforded 2-benzoyl-5-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2-diazabicyclo[3.2.0]-3-hepten-6-one 152. Further reaction of the latter compound with a warm glacial acetic acid solution yielded the diazepinone 153. Reflux of 152 in methanol (containing benzoic acid and sodium benzoate) gave the 1-benzoylpyrrolone 154. Alkaline methanolysis (catalytic amount of ammonia or bicarbonate) produced as the major product 6-benzamido-3-hydroxypyridine 159. Performing the reaction in methanol without added reagents gave compound 154 as well as compound 159. The reaction products were believed to result from the same precursor, obtained by concerted rupture of the N–N and C5–N bond. Recyclization via two different ways resulted in the two isolated compounds. The bicyclic system of compound 152 rearranged to 1-benzamidopyridinium chloride 156 upon treatment with an aqueous methanolic hydrochloric acid solution. This reaction consists of an allylic shift of the bridging bond from C5 to C3, followed by decomposition of the bicyclic intermediate 155. Finally, treatment of 152 with cold methanolic potassium hydroxide afforded a mixture of lactam 157 and enaminone 158. A common precursor for the formation of these compounds resulted from deprotonation at the azetidin-3-one moiety, followed by cleavage of the N-N bond and hydrolysis.

Scheme 42



The rich synthetic potential of these bicyclic compounds **152** in the described transformations can be explained by involvement of the azetidin-3-one fragment.

Monocyclic azetidin-3-ones undergo ring expansion as well. For instance, prolonged reflux of a mixture of *N*-triflylazetidin-3-one **160**, sodium azide, and titanium(IV) chloride in acetonitrile afforded the substituted oxazole **161** in a yield of 20% and the starting unreacted **160** in 25% yield (Scheme 43).¹⁰⁴

Scheme 43



At present, the mechanism of this reaction is not yet fully understood. A control experiment was performed by treating azetidin-one **160** with titanium-(IV) chloride in acetonitrile in the absence of sodium azide. In this case, the oxazole **161** was not detected. The only conclusion so far is that sodium azide must actively participate in the mechanism for the conversion of **160** into **161**.

The first synthesis of imidazolidin-4-ones **164** by Beckmann rearrangement of *N*-mesyl-1-alkoxycarbonylazetidin-3-one oxime **162** on alumina was carried out (Scheme 44).⁹⁶ Standard reagents for Beck-

Scheme 44



mann rearrangement, such as polyphosphoric acid, sulfuric acid, and formic acid, failed in this particular case. Attempts to synthesize **164** directly from the *N*-ethoxycarbonyl-azetidin-3-one by a Schmidt type reaction was unsuccessful and led only to acyclic products.⁹⁶

2-(Hydroxymethyl)azetidin-3-ones **165** rearranged in acidic medium to give rise to tetrahydrofuran-3ones **166** (Scheme 45).¹⁰⁵

Scheme 45



These ring transformations reflect the possibilities of the azetidin-3-one ring toward ring expansion, due to the reactive $N-CH_2-CO$ moiety in this strained ring system.

C.4. Miscellaneous

Samarium iodide promoted reductive coupling of compounds **167** afforded the corresponding pinacol derivatives **168** (Scheme 46). After conversion into





the dimesylate **169** and heating in the presence of base, the corresponding spirocyclic oxiranes **170** were

obtained. Only N-p-toluenesulfonyl protected azetidin-3-ones seemed to be inert under these conditions.¹⁰⁶

Acid-catalyzed ring opening of azetidin-3-ones **171** has been observed during silica gel chromatography, using methanol as the eluent (Scheme 47).⁷⁸ The

Scheme 47



extreme lability of this heterocycle toward nucleophilic ring opening originates from the ready cleavage of the β -ketoester moiety according to a retro-Claisen reaction.

Scheme 48



The involvement of the azetidine ring in 3-iminoazetidine **173** did not necessarily lead to ring expansion but also produced acyclic unsaturated products, as exemplified for the conversion of **173** into functionalized 2-azabutadienes **176** (Scheme 48).^{90,91}

These 3-iminoazetidines **177** were also cleaved with hydrazine hydrate at room temperature, forming enaminoesters **180** (Scheme 49).⁹¹

Considering the reactions, presented in the given review, it is clear that the methods for azetidin-3one synthesis are not exhausted. New research will undoubtedly result in the creation of new approaches to azetidin-3-ones. The full extent of their synthetic potential remains to be discovered.

III. The Chemistry of Oxetan-3-ones

Unlike azetidin-3-ones, oxetan-3-ones **181** have been scarcely cited in the literature (Figure 4). Rather



Figure 4.

few examples are known, and also their chemistry is quite unknown. Unsubstituted oxetan-3-one **181** itself was first isolated and characterized as its 2,4dinitrophenylhydrazone derivative, as late as 1952.¹⁰⁷ Only in 1967, oxetan-3-one **181** (R¹, R², R³, R⁴ = H) was isolated in pure state and characterized unambiguously.¹⁰⁸ Before, some inadvertent preparations of substituted oxetan-3-ones were published and verified later.^{110–113}

Oxetan-3-ones are not yet found in nature, and data about their biological activity are very rare. An exception on this last point concerns a series of steroids that contain the oxetan-3-one substructure.^{114–118} Described biological activities of these steroidal oxetan-3-ones include antiinflammatory activity¹¹⁴ and antiglucocorticoid activity,¹¹⁷ while some of them act as oral diuretics.¹¹⁸ Other applications of oxetan-3-ones involve the use as solvent, especially for the synthesis of cyanoethyl cellulose in the preparation of binders for electroluminescent panels.^{108,109}

The further chapter will be divided in an analogous way as the one for the azetidin-3-ones, i.e., treating structural data, synthetic ways to oxetan-3-ones, and finally further transformations successively.

A. Structural Data

The structure and electronic properties of the parent unsubstituted oxetan-3-one **181** have been studied extensively by a wide range of different techniques.^{119–129} Photoelectron spectroscopy was used to determine the electronic structure of the strained ring system, more specifically the possibility of the nonbonding oxygen orbital for interaction (through space and/or through bond) with the exocyclic π -orbital.¹¹⁹ Inspection of the eigenvectors resulting from the molecular orbital calculation methods (MINDO/3, MNDO, STO-3G) leaves no

doubt that the interaction is primarily a throughbond rather than a through-space interaction.^{119,120,121} The STO-3G calculation method was also applied to thietan-3-one.¹²¹ These calculations also show considerable electrondensity on the pseudo πCH_2 -orbitals.¹¹⁹ Microwave spectrum techniques, infrared spectrum techniques, and ab initio calculations by the force method have been applied to determine the structure of the ring, i.e., the planarity or nonplanarity of the ring.^{122–126} Molecular mechanics calculations (MM2) were utilized to estimate the barriers to planarity in some small ring molecules, including oxetan-3-one.¹²⁷ The effect of carbonyl substitution on ring planarity and ring-puckering vibration was analyzed for oxetanes and thietanes.¹²⁸ In addition to the contributions of ring angle deformation and unstrained torsions about the ring bonds, the model for this calculation also included a torsional strain parameter.¹²⁸ These studies led to the conclusion that the oxetan-3-one ring has a planar equilibrium configuration.^{122,125} Using the same technique, expanded with some calculations of moment equations and isotopic substitution experiments, a proposal was reached concerning bond lengths and bond angles in oxetan-3-ones (Figure 5).122



Figure 5.

In addition, vibrational model studies revealed that the ring bends more about the $C_{\alpha}-C_{\alpha'}$ diagonal than the $C_{\beta}-O$ diagonal during vibration. $^{122-124}$ An explanation for this phenomenon is found in considering the relative amounts of strain present for the internal ring angles.¹²² The central C-atom in the $C_{\alpha}-C_{\beta}-C_{\alpha'}$ angle has a nominal sp²-hybridization, resulting in a 120° equilibrium angle. Thus, this angle is more highly strained and resists to further motion of the ring which causes further bending. This fact maximizes bending about the $C_{\alpha}{-}C_{\alpha'}$ diagonal which involves no change in the $C_{\alpha}-C_{\beta}-C_{\alpha'}$ angle. Torsional forces also favor the planar configuration in oxetan-3-one **182**, presumably because there are no adjacent methylene hydrogens.^{122,128} The molecular Zeeman effect and other magnetic parameters of oxetan-3one were measured.¹²⁹ Also, the crystal and molecular solid-state structure of a carbohydrate-derived oxetan-3-one has been described (vide infra).130 X-ray analysis shows that the monosubstituted oxetan-3one has an almost planar configuration (the ring oxygen being out of the C-C(O)-C plane by 0.10 Å), and values for bond lengths and bond angles of the oxetan-3-one are in the same order of magnitude as the ones already mentioned.

IR-carbonyl absorptions in the range of 1802–1820 cm⁻¹ are characteristic for oxetan-3-ones.^{131–133} Ox-

etan-3-ones also exhibit an additional strong ring absorption at ca. 900 cm^{-1} .¹²¹

¹H NMR studies report a deshielding of the α -protons to the carbonyl group, appearing at a δ -value of 5.6 ppm (100 MHz, CDCl₃).¹³⁰ The NMR spectra of monosubstitute oxetan-3-ones show geminal coupling constants of 14.5–15.3 Hz for the oxetane ring methylene protons.¹³⁴ In the same case, long-range coupling constants between the ring methine proton and the ring methylene protons have been assigned 0–1.5 Hz (trans) and 3.5–4.0 Hz (cis).¹³⁴

The mass spectra of oxetan-3-ones have not been thoroughly studied. However, molecular ions have been reported in most cases and in one case, the mass spectral decomposition of a steroidal oxetan-3-one showed clearly the loss of the elements of carbon monoxide.¹¹⁶

Oxetan-3-one **181** (\mathbb{R}^1 , \mathbb{R}^2 , \mathbb{R}^3 , $\mathbb{R}^4 = H$) is unstable in the presence of base and slowly polymerizes on standing, giving a highly viscous material, possibly polyoxetanone [-CH₂C(O)-CH₂O-].¹³⁶

B. Synthetic Methods for Oxetan-3-ones

The synthetic methods for oxetan-3-ones can be grouped as follows:

- 1. Decomposition of Diazoketones
- 2. Oxidation Reactions
- 3. Intramolecular Displacement Reactions
- 4. Miscellaneous

B.1. Decomposition of Diazoketones

The first synthesis of substituted oxetan-3-ones was achieved by an acid-catalyzed decomposition of a diazoketone. 1-Acetoxycyclohexanecarbonyl chloride **183** was first reacted with diazomethane to afford the corresponding α -diazoketone, which subsequently reacted with base and acid to provide 1-oxaspiro[3.5]nonan-3-one **184** in 49% yield and 1-acetoxycyclohexane carboxylic acid **185**, as a minor reaction product after acidic workup (Scheme 50).¹⁰⁷

Scheme 50



The cyclization to the oxetan-3-one **184** was probably the result of acidolysis, since gas evolution was only observed at the third step.¹³⁰

In main lines, the same strategy was applied to the synthesis of the parent oxetan-3-one itself. Chloroacetyl chloride was treated with diazomethane, followed by potassium carbonate in aqueous methanol.¹⁰⁷ The resulting oxetan-3-one was isolated as its 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazone derivative in only low yield.¹⁰⁷ Acetolysis of the diazoketone **186** was conducted to determine neighboring group participation in the solvolysis or whether normal substitution proceeds through an intermediate oxonium ion.¹³⁷ The acetolysis of **186a** led exclusively to the α -ac-



etoxyketone **187a**, which proved that an intermediate oxonium ion is not involved (Scheme 51).

However, in the case of **185b**,c the formation of α -(diphenylmethyl)ketones **188** and the corresponding oxetan-3-ones **187** involved clearly an oxonium ion intermediate **190**.¹³⁷ Since the ring-opened products at the R-substituted carbon atom were not detected, normal substitution seemed to proceed via an open chain mechanism.

Not only organic acids have been used in the decomposition of diazoketones, also boron trifluoridecatalyzed reactions have been described.¹³⁰ The first carbohydrate derived oxetane-3-one **194** was obtained by boron trifluoride-catalyzed methanolysis of the sugar-derived diazoketone **191** (Scheme 52).^{130,138,139}

Scheme 52



The reaction mechanism was thoroughly investigated since the formation of the oxetan-3-one **194** implied the formation of the four-membered ring by opening of a six-membered ring and participation of the ring oxygen atom of a pyranose sugar.¹³⁰

Boron trifluoride-catalyzed decomposition of compounds **196**, generated from α -diazoacetyloxiranes **195**, via intramolecular alcoholysis yielded the oxetan-3-ones **197** in 54–82% yield (Scheme 53, Table 2).¹³⁴

The starting material **196** was obtained by reaction of α,β -epoxydiazomethyl ketones **195** with tin(IV) chloride, and the reaction occurred with retention of stereochemistry at both carbon atoms of the epoxide function. $^{\rm 134}$

The oxetan-3-ones **197** could directly be obtained by treatment of compounds **195** with tin(IV) chloride at ambient temperatures. However, the yield of oxetan-3-ones **197** seemed to be higher when the twostep procedure was applied.

More recently, a rhodium(II) catalyzed intramolecular insertion reaction was reported to perform the cyclization toward oxetan-3-ones.¹³⁵ Oxetan-3-one-2carboxylate **199** was prepared in this way (Scheme 54).

B.2. Oxidation Reactions

Several oxidative methods for the synthesis of oxetan-3-ones have been reported. Auto-oxidation of $\alpha, \alpha, \alpha', \alpha'$ -tetraphenylacetone derivatives **200** under a great variety of conditions, including heating in aqueous acetic acid in the presence of oxygen, irradiation in aqueous acetic acid, bromine in water/ carbon tetrachloride, and 93% pyridine, yielded 2,2,4,4-tetraphenyloxetan-3-one **201** (Scheme 55, Table 3).¹⁴⁰

In some of these cases, the reaction mechanism was assumed to proceed via a hydroperoxide intermediate.¹⁴⁰ 2,2,4,4-Tetraphenyloxetan-3-one **201** was also formed by dehydration of 1,3-dihydroxy-1,1,3,3-tetraphenyl-2-propanone with sulfuric acid in acetic acid.¹⁴¹ The starting product was obtained after reduction of 1,3-dihydroperoxy-1,1,3,3-tetraphenyl-2-propanone, which was formed itself by electrontransfer photooxygenation of tetraphenylallene.¹⁴¹

Another method, analogous to the one applied for the synthesis of azetidin-3-ones (vide supra), involved the lead(IV) acetate oxidation of 2,2,4,4-tetrasub-stituted-3-hydroxyoxetane-3-carboxylic acids **205** (Scheme 56).^{143–145}

Bromination of 2,2,5,5-tetramethyltetrahydro-3furanone **202** yielded the 4,4-dibromo derivative **203**.¹⁴² Synthesis of 2,2,5,5-tetramethyltetrahydrofuran-3,4-dione **204** has been achieved by base treatment of **203**^{142,143} or by direct oxidation of **202** with selenium dioxide in water.¹⁴⁴ Treatment of **204** with stronger base resulted in 2,2,4,4-tetrasubstituted-3hydroxyoxetane-3-carboxylic acid **205** via a benzylic acid type rearrangement. For the final conversion of the 3-hydroxyoxetane-3-carboxylic acid into the oxetan-3-one **206**, several methods (among which were pyrolysis, oxidation with NBS, oxidation with dilute potassium permanganate) proved to be unsuccess-



Table 2. Substitution Pattern and Yields forCompounds 196, 197

				yield 196 ,	yield 197 ,
	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbb{R}^3	%	%
а	C ₆ H ₅	Н	C ₆ H ₅	81	78
b	Н	C_6H_5	C_6H_5	-	54
С	$p-CH_3C_6H_4$	Н	C_6H_5	81	82
d	C_6H_5	Н	$p-CH_3C_6H_4$	74	70
e	C_6H_5	Н	H	55	68
f	p-BrC ₆ H ₄	Н	Н	91	76
g	α -naphth.	Η	Н	93	68
h	β -naphth.	Н	Н	69	79

Scheme 54



Scheme 55



Table 3. Synthesis of Oxetan-3-one 201 fromTetraphenylacetone Derivatives

R	reagents	time, days	conditions, $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	yield 201 , %
Н	O ₂ , 91% AcOH	2	107-110	61.5
Н	N ₂ , 91% AcOH	2.2	107-110	
Н	hv, 91% AcOH	105	80-100	47.3
Н	Br ₂ , H ₂ O, CCl ₄	43	25 - 50	37.5
Н	93% pyridine	42	50	30
Br	93% pyridine	22	50	10
OH	Br ₂ , ČČl ₄	0.7	75-80	50

ful.¹⁴³ Only lead(IV) acetate seemed to be useful for this final transformation.^{143–145} Of course, again, the scope of this reaction is limited due to the tetrasubstitution of the oxetane ring.

The most obvious way to generate the carbonyl group is of course simple oxidation of the corresponding alcohols. The oxidation of 2,2,4,4-tetraphenyloxetan-3-ol has already been described early, partially as proof for the formation of the corresponding oxetan-3-one via an alternative way.¹⁴⁰ This oxidation was performed with chromic anhydride in boiling acetic acid and gave the oxetan-3-one in 56% yield.

Mild oxidation of oxetan-3-ol **207** with chromic oxide and pyridine gave oxetan-3-one **208** in 55% yield (Scheme 57).^{44,136} The use of permanganate, dichromate, or Oppenauer oxidation conditions were reported to fail for this substrate.¹³⁶ Alternatively, the reaction of 3-oxetanyl tosylate with dimethyl sulfoxide in the presence of tri-*n*-butylamine gave the oxetanone **208** in 33% yield.¹³⁶ Use of PCC-type oxidations has also been described.⁴⁴ As in the case

Scheme 56



Scheme 57



of azetidin-3-ols, oxidation of oxetan-3-ols is a delicate matter.

Oxetan-3-ones were also formed by oxidation of 3-methyleneoxetanones **209**. Treatment of oxetane **209** with osmium tetroxide and sodium periodate gave the oxetan-3-one **210** in 57% yield (Scheme 58).¹⁰⁸

Scheme 58



The same approach has been used in the synthesis of oxetanocin derivatives, which are known antiviral nucleosides (Scheme 59).¹⁴⁶

Scheme 59



Intermediate **211** was transformed into the corresponding oxetan-3-one **212** by a Lemieux-Von Rudloff oxidation procedure.¹⁴⁶

Finally, a related oxidative method to produce oxetan-3-ones also started from 3-methyleneoxetane **213** via reaction with a glycolating agent, the resulting glycol being cleaved to the corresponding oxetan-3-one **215** (Scheme 60).¹⁰⁸ In fact, this was the first

Scheme 60



unambiguous synthesis of the parent oxetan-3-one **215**.

B.3. Intramolecular Displacement Reactions

Intramolecular displacement reactions for the preparation of oxetan-3-ones only seemed to work satisfactorily in the synthesis of steroidal oxetan-3-ones.¹¹⁷ Indeed, the strategy to synthesize oxetan-3-ones by halogenation of α -ketols, followed by cyclization of the resulting acyl halides did not work.¹⁴⁷ Bromination resulted in the cleavage of the carbonyl–carbinol bond.

Two different steroidal oxetan-3-one structures have to be distinguished, i.e., α - or β -5,7-oxetan-3'-ones **217** (Scheme 61).^{115,116,148,149}

Scheme 61



On the other hand, also C17-oxetan-3'-ones **219** have been described.^{114,117,118,150,151} In 1955, a pregn-4-ene-11 α -ol-3,20-dione 17 α ,21 oxide C17-oxetan-3'one was claimed to be obtained by acidic hydrolysis (sulfuric acid-methanol-water) of the corresponding bis-acetal-17 α ,21-oxide.¹⁵² However, two following communications disapproved this finding considering the structural assignment and quoted evidence.^{114,151} Apparently, under the acidic conditions, the initially formed oxetan-3-one rearranged to a five-membered ring (vide infra, C.1. Ring Opening and Ring Expansion of Oxetan-3-ones).^{114,151} In both these last papers, the synthesis of steroidal oxetan-3-ones has been accomplished starting from substituted 11,17-dihydroxypregn-4-ene-3,20-dione **220** with a leaving group at C21 (Scheme 62).

Treatment of the mesylate **220** [$\mathbb{R}^1 = OMs$, X = Hor F, $\mathbb{R}^2 = H$, (Δ^1)] with potassium fluoride in dimethylformamide or dimethyl sulfoxide furnished the substitution product **222** as the main reaction product ($\mathbb{R}^1 = F$) and also the oxetan-3-one **221**.¹⁵¹ This method was also expanded to some other steroidal oxetan-3-ones.¹¹⁸ Treatment of the iodoScheme 62



substituted **220** ($R^1 = I, X = H, F, R^2 = H$) with silver dihydrogen phosphate yielded, besides the steroid 24phosphate **222** ($\hat{R}^1 = OP(O)(OH)_2$) also the oxetanone **221**.¹¹⁴ However, the isolation of the oxetan-3-ones 221 from both these reaction sequences occurred with low yields, and attempts to improve these yields failed.¹⁵³ Only several years later this synthesis could be optimized and the forcing reaction conditions could be smoothened. These studies showed that the α -ketomesylates **220** ($\mathbb{R}^1 = \mathbb{O}Ms$, X = F, $\mathbb{R}^2 = Me$, (Δ^1)) when treated with a slight excess of potassium tertbutoxyde in tetrahydrofuran gave the corresponding oxetan-3-one in good yields (80%).¹¹⁷ The methodology also proved to work on the C21-mesylates of cortisol and deacylcortivazol (yields 76-86%).¹¹⁷ Thus, reaction conditions were tempered from 16 to 24 h at 80-110 °C to a few minutes at room temperature.¹¹⁷

Ring-B cholestane oxetan-3-ones have been synthesized by intramolecular substitution reactions of 7-bromo-5-hydroxy-6-oxacholestane derivatives. In a first case, 3β-hydroxy-5,7β-epoxy-5β-cholestan-6-one **225** was obtained after bromination of 3β-substituted-5β-hydroxy-6-oxacholestanes with pyridinium hydrobromide perbromide (PHP) and subsequent treatment of the 7α-bromo derivatives **224** with potassium hydroxide in dimethyl sulfoxide (Scheme 63).¹¹⁵ In the case of 3β,5β-acetoxy substitution (**224c**), no oxetan-3-one was obtained.¹¹⁵

It was reported that the C3-epimers of the bromoketones **224** as well as the 3-desoxy bromoketone derivative gave only poor yields of oxetan-3-ones under these conditions. A 3β -substituent seemed to be favorable to achieve the necessary conformational change in the A/B steroid ring system for intramolecular substitution (Scheme 63).¹¹⁵ Although the poor yields of the C3-epimers and 3-desoxy derivatives, these oxetan-3-ones could be obtained by converting the 3β -hydroxyoxetanone **224** into its tosylate. Reflux with lithium carbonate in dimethylformamide yielded the corresponding 3α -formate ester and a 2- or 3-ene unsaturated oxetanone. The 3α-acetoxyoxetanone was obtained after saponification and acetylation, while the saturated 3-desoxyoxetanone was obtained after catalytic hydrogenation of the unsaturated oxetan-3-one.¹¹⁵

Scheme 63



The isomeric 5,7 α -epoxy-5 α -cholestan-6-ones have been obtained as well as starting from 7 β -bromo-5 α hydroxy-6-oxocholestanes¹⁴⁸ as starting from 7 α bromo-5 α -hydroxy-6-oxo-cholestanes.^{116,149} In the former case, 7 α -bromoderivatives were first epimerized by treatment with lithium bromide in dimethylformamide and converted with methanolic potassium hydroxide in dimethyl sulfoxide to give 5,7 α epoxy-5 α -cholestan-6-ones.¹⁴⁸ In the latter case, epimerization was believed to occur under the reaction conditions, i.e., a hot lithium carbonate-dimethylformamide mixture.¹¹⁶ Experiments were executed at room temperature using lithium bromide in dimethylformamide.¹¹⁶ In this way, the epimerization statement was confirmed.¹¹⁶

Problems in the synthetic pathway to these $5,7\alpha$ epoxy- 5α -cholestan-6-ones occurred primarily in the bromination stage (which gave several side products¹⁴⁸), since the conversion of the 7β -bromo- 5α hydroxycholestan-6-ones to the corresponding oxetanones (**226** \rightarrow **227**) did not require a major conformational change, as compared with the formation of the isomeric oxetanones from the 5β -hydroxycompounds (**228** \rightarrow **229** or **230**) (Scheme 64).

B.4. Miscellaneous

Several oxetan-3-ones have been isolated from reaction mixtures, obtained by peracid or dimethyl-

Scheme 64

dioxirane oxidations of allenes.^{154–161} This research was mainly done to obtain stable molecules with an allene oxide structure.¹⁵⁴ In these cases, the oxetan-3-one was synthesized from spirodioxides thermally,^{158,160} by acid catalysis^{156,158} or by preparative TLC.¹⁵⁹ This method, however, did not involve a straightforward and applicable synthesis of oxetan-3-ones and will not be further discussed.

1-Oxaspiro[3.5]nonan-3-one, already mentioned before,¹⁰⁷ could be synthesized by acidic hydrolysis of the corresponding diacetal.¹⁶² The latter product was obtained from the photocycloaddition of cyclohexanone and ketene diacetal.¹⁶² Other 3,3-dialkoxyoxetanes were synthesized in a similar way, but no further transformation to the oxetan-3-ones was included for these compounds.¹⁶²

The functionalized oxetan-3-one **234** was obtained by photolysis of the chromium-(methoxy)-(methyl)carbene complex **231** with benzaldehyde in the presence of carbon monoxide and zinc chloride as Lewis acid.¹⁶³ Remarkably, the use of all other Lewis acids led to decomposition or the formation of the β -lactone **233** (Scheme 65, Table 4).

Scheme 65



Table 4. Lewis Acids, Reaction Conditions, and Yieldsin the Photolysis of Chromium Carbene Complexes231

Lewis acid	<i>T</i> , °C	product, yield
none	25	decomposition
BF ₃ ·Et ₂ O (0.2 equiv)	25	decomposition
MABR $(0.2 \text{ equiv})^a$	25	233 , 12%
MABR (0.2 equiv)	0	233 , 17%
MABR (0.2 equiv)	-30	233 , 18%
(CH ₃) ₂ AlCl (0.2 equiv)	0	233 , 22%
ZnCl ₂ (0.5 equiv)	25	234 , 29%
a MABR = methylalu	minum	bis(4-bromo-2,6-di-tert-

butylphenoxide).

The synthesis of fluorodioxole olefin monomers by thermal decomposition of fluorinated dioxolane car-



boxylic acids or the corresponding acyl chloride led to complex reaction product mixtures depending on the reaction conditions (temperature, base, solvent, counterion in the intermediate salt).¹⁶⁴ When the reaction was performed with sodium carbonate, oxetan-3-one **237** was isolated from the reaction mixture.¹⁶⁴ Alternatively, the same oxetan-3-one **237** could be synthesized by treatment of 3-hydroxy-3fluorooxetane **235** with the tris(dimethylamino)sulfonium salt **236** (Scheme 66).¹⁶⁴

Scheme 66



2-Methyloxetan-3-one has also been isolated from the reaction mixture when 2-butanone was decomposed with oxygen at 350 $^\circ\rm C$ and subatmospheric pressures. 165

Finally, an oxetan-3-one structure has been tentatively assigned to a compound, observed by lowtemperature FT-IR in the reaction mixture of the cycloaddition between an acid chloride derived ketene and an imine.¹⁶⁶

C. Chemical Properties of Oxetan-3-ones

The chemical reactions that involve oxetan-3-ones as starting material consist mostly of the investigation of the lability of the oxetane ring under different conditions and of the transformation of the carbonyl group. Thus, this chapter will be divided in two parts, a first one concerning ring transformation of the oxetan-3-one structure and a second one concerning transformations of the carbonyl group.

C.1. Ring Opening and Ring Expansion of Oxetan-3-ones

The first experiments, performed on 1-oxaspiro[3.5]nonan-3-one **238**, exhibited the oxetan-3-one ring to be fairly stable under basic conditions, but susceptible to oxidative conditions.¹⁰⁷ Treatment of **238** with 2 M sodium hydroxide solution at room temperature gave the unchanged starting material (Scheme 67).¹⁰⁷

Oxidation with potassium permanganate gave adipic acid **239**, and oxidation with iodine in basic medium resulted in a mixture of cyclohexanone **240** and the glycolic acid derivative **241**.¹⁰⁷ Treatment with phenyldiazonium chloride resulted in 1-hydroxycyclohexane carboxylic acid **242**.¹⁰⁷ All these reaction products were isolated in low yields.

Although Grignard reactions on oxetan-3-ones have been described to occur without problems (vide infra), the Grignard reaction of spiro-oxetan-3-one **238** led to the formation of the rearranged β -hydroxyketone **243** (minor) and the diol **244** (major) (Scheme 67).¹⁶⁷ After primary addition to the carbonyl group, the Grignard reagent attacked the oxymagnesium group, which led to the ring opening of the heterocyclic ring as depicted (Scheme 68).¹⁶⁷

The same experiment, repeated with methyl- and benzylmagnesium halides, resulted in the diol by

Scheme 67



secondary addition of the Grignard reagent. 2-Naphthylmagnesium bromide only gave the rearranged ketone.¹⁶⁷

Ring opening of tetrasubstituted oxetan-3-ones has been described to occur under several conditions (Scheme 69).

Treatment of tetraphenyloxetan-3-one **249** (R = C_6H_5) with potassium hydroxide under different conditions gave the ring opened products **250** and **254**.¹⁴⁰ The carboxylic acid **250** was cleaved further to α -hydroxycarboxylic acid **251** by hydrogen chloride, while hydrogen iodide in aqueous acetic acid gave a reductive cleavage to diphenylacetic acid **252** and diphenylmethane **253**. The reaction of tetramethyloxetan-3-one **249** (R = Me) with zinc in acetic anhydride resulted in the formation of α , α' -diacetoxydiisopropyl ketone **255** and α -acetoxydiisopropyl ketone **256**.¹⁴³

Photochemical decomposition of tetrasubstituted oxetan-3-ones **257** can occur via two different pathways (Scheme 70).^{168–170}

Irradiation of tetramethyloxetan-3-one **257a** (R = CH₃) with 313 nm light in solution revealed that the two pathways can be involved, depending on the solvent.¹⁶⁸ In polar solvents, pathway I occurred, while in nonpolar solvents, both pathways I and II were equally important. These results were later confirmed by repeating the experiments with tetraphenyloxetan-3-one **257b** (R = C₆H₅).^{169–171} Tetraphenyloxetan-3-one was irradiated with 350 nm light in benzene, under conditions the oxirane **260** is known to be photostable.¹⁷⁰ The oxirane **260** was isolated in 36% yield.¹⁷⁰ Photolysis of **257b** in benzene/2-propanol solution (19:1) revealed a third pathway, i.e., reduction to 2,2,4,4-tetraphenyloxetanol.¹⁷⁰

Tetraphenyloxetan-3-one **257b** has also been described as a precursor of diphenylcarbene.¹⁷¹ In this paper, it was observed that diphenylcarbene, derived from different sources, exhibits different C-H insertion selectivities in low-temperature matrixes, dependent on site preferences (topochemical factors) imposed by the precursor.¹⁷¹ For the parent oxetan-

Scheme 69



Scheme 70



3-one, unimolecular decomposition rates have been calculated. $^{\rm 172}$

A special case of ring-opening of oxetan-3-ones with subsequent ring closure was encountered with steroidal oxetan-3-ones (Scheme 71).^{114,151,152}

Scheme 71



Acid hydrolysis of the steroidal diacetal **262** was at first believed to give the corresponding 11α -ol-3,-20-dione-pregn-4-ene- 17α ,20-dioxide,¹⁵² but two reports rejected this finding on the basis of the analysis of the spectroscopic data.^{114,151} Under the reaction conditions, the intermediate oxetan-3-one was rear-

ranged to the tetrahydrofuranone **263**.^{114,151} After hydrolysis, the intermediate carbenium ion at C13 was subsequently stabilized by ring closure, rather than by double bond formation.¹¹⁴

Peracetic acid oxidation of 2,2,4,4-tetramethyloxetan-3-one **264** afforded 2,2,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-one **265** (Scheme 72).¹⁵⁴ This result consti-

Scheme 72



tutes the only known Baeyer–Villiger type oxidation of this class of compounds.

C.2. Transformations of the Carbonyl Group

The two main transformations concern the reduction of the carbonyl group and Grignard reactions on the carbonyl group. Different conditions have been applied to reduce oxetan-3-ones **266** to the corresponding oxetan-3-ols **267** (Scheme 73).

The reduction of tetrasubstituted oxetan-3-ones **266** has been performed with lithium aluminum hydride and isopropylmagnesium bromide.^{140,144} In the case of tetraphenyloxetan-3-one **266** ($R = C_6H_5$), the reduction to **267** ($R = C_6H_5$) was also achieved with sodium methoxide in dioxane in good yields.¹⁴⁰ The reduction has also been described by catalytic

Scheme 73



hydrogenation.^{136,173} A more complex oxetan-3-one **268** was also converted to the corresponding oxetan-3-ols **269** and **270** with sodium borohydride in methanol.¹⁴⁶

The described Grignard reactions of oxetan-3-ones are summarized in Scheme 74.

Scheme 74



Tetraphenyloxetan-3-one **271** ($R = C_6H_5$) was reacted with both methyl- and benzylmagnesium halide to give the tertiary alcohols **272a**, **b** in good yields.¹⁴⁰ In these cases, the reaction was performed in toluene or dibutyl ether because of the low solubility of oxetan-3-one **271** ($R = C_6H_5$) in diethyl ether. Grignard reaction of 271 (R = Me) with methylmagnesium iodide gave the oxetan-3-ol 272c in rather poor yield.¹⁴⁴ The reaction of phenylmagnesium bromide with oxetan-3-one **271** ($\dot{R} = H$) furnished the corresponding oxetan-3-ol 272d.174 As can be seen from these results, Grignard reactions on oxetan-3-ones have been mainly performed on tetrasubstituted oxetan-3-ones. The yields seem to increase with increasing steric hindrance of the C-2 and C-4 substituents.

Oxetan-3-one **273** reacted with hydroxylamine hydrochloride to give the oxime **274** (Scheme 75).

Scheme 75



Subsequent hydrogenation of the oxime **274** gave the 3-aminooxetane **275**.¹⁷³ Also the *N*-tosylhydra-

zone has been prepared. The lithium salt **276** of this hydrazone has been pyrolyzed in vacuo to yield 3,4-dimethyl-3-penten-2-one **279**.¹⁷⁵ The proposed mechanism for this reaction is shown in Scheme 76,





entailing the generation of a carbene **277** and a subsequent migration of a methyl group. These experiments were conducted in analogy to the ones to synthesize alkylidene-substituted thiiranes from hydrazone-derivatives of thietanones (vide infra).

A suitably substituted oxetan-3-one has been transformed into the biologically interesting new amino acid **282**, containing the oxetane substructure, by a reaction sequence completely analogous to the one already described for the corresponding azetidin-3one, aminocyanation of the carbonyl group, subsequent alkaline hydrolysis and hydrogenolysis (Scheme 77).⁴⁴

Scheme 77



Finally, 2,2,4,4-tetramethyl- and 2,2,4,4-tetraphenyloxetane have been prepared by Wolff–Kishner reduction of the corresponding oxetan-3-ones.¹⁷⁶

As can be seen from the overview of these reactions of oxetan-3-ones, the reactivity is less explored than in the case of azetidin-3-ones (vide supra). Both classes of compounds have a peculiar and rich synthetic potential, which is definitely underdeveloped at present. Suprisingly, some potential reactivities of the oxetan-3-one ring system remain unexplored, e.g., aldol reactions and imine formation have not yet been performed.

IV. The Chemistry of Thietan-3-ones

The chemistry of oxetan-3-ones is less developed than the chemistry of azetidin-3-ones, but the chemistry of thietan-3-ones **283** is even less common (Figure 6). However, in contrast to azetidin-3-ones





and oxetan-3-ones, the thietan-3-one skeleton has already been isolated from natural sources.

From the plant *Berkheya barbata* (L.f.) Hutch., (2*Z*)-2-{3-[5-(1-propynyl)-2-thienyl]-2-propynylidene}-3-thietanone **284** was isolated.¹⁷⁷ At first, the compound was believed to possess another structure due to the paucity of natural products that contain the unusual thietanone ring system. Synthesis, however, showed that the proposed structure **284** matched the spectroscopic data retrieved from the natural product (vide infra).

The far-infrared and microwave spectrum of thietan-3-one have been studied to obtain information about the ring-puckering and vibration of this small ring heterocycle.^{178,179}

This chapter will also cover partially the chemistry of the related 3-thietanone-1-oxide **285** and 3-thietanone-1,1-dioxide **286** (Figure 7).



Figure 7.

Where appropiate, syntheses or reactivities of compounds **285** and **286** will be mentioned. Thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide **286** can also occur in its enolic form **287**. However, NMR and IR data obtained from this compound in deuterium oxide, tetrachloroethane, or dimethyl sulfoxide showed no evidence for this tautomerism.^{180,181} The occurrence of the enolic form in substituted thietan-3-ones-1,1-dioxides has been reported.^{182,183}

This chapter will consist of two parts that will deal with the synthesis of this small sulfur-containing heterocycle and with further chemical transformations, respectively.

A. Synthetic Methods for Thietan-3-ones

A.1. Synthesis from Acyclic Precursors

The synthesis of thietan-3-ones was achieved starting from simple ketones. 4-Phenyl-2-butanone **288a** was treated at room temperature with an excess thionyl chloride and catalytic amounts of pyridine (Scheme 78). 2-Benzylidenethietan-3-one **292a** was isolated.^{184,185} Other alkylidene thietanones have also been synthesized in this way. The reaction is believed to proceed via the formation of sulfenyl chloride **289** by a Hell-Volhard-Zelinsky addition of thionyl chloride to the enol form of the ketone **288** and consequently conversion to a sulfenyl chloride by a Pummerer type rearrangement.^{184,185}

These experiments were repeated later, and **289b** and **291b** could be isolated in 58 and 5% yield, respectively.^{186,187} More recently, tetrasubstituted thietan-3-ones were synthesized from 1,1,3,3-tetra-substituted propan-2-one derivatives when treated with sulfur dichloride to give the intermediate sulfenyl chlorides. The latter compounds were converted to the thietan-3-ones by reaction with potassium *tert*-butoxide in tetrahydrofuran.¹⁸⁸ Earlier, several amides





derived from acetone dicarboxylic acid derivatives were reported to react with thionyl chloride, giving 3-oxo-2,4-thietanedicarboxamide-1-oxide derivatives.¹⁸⁹ This was the first synthesis of a thietan-3-one-1oxide.

Several reports included the synthesis of thietan-3-ones starting from α, α' -dibromoketones (Scheme 79).^{190–197}





The best results were obtained by the use of sodium hydrogen sulfide, generated from sodium in methanol, saturated with hydrogen sulfide.¹⁹¹⁻¹⁹³ Earlier conditions using sodium disulfide proved less reactive, but also in this case the formation of the thietan-3-one was observed.¹⁹⁰ The reaction of α, α' -dibromoketones 293 not only afforded thietan-3-ones 294, but also α, α' -dimercapto ketones were formed as side products, which upon dehydration at sulfur gave 1,2dithiolan-4-ones.¹⁹³ Unsubstituted thietan-3-one and 2-methylthietan-3-one could not be synthesized in this way, indicating the importance of the gem-effect for ring closure.¹⁹³ However, cyclization of 3,5-dichloro-4-oxopentanoic acid under the same conditions did result in the isolation of thietan-3-one-2-carboxylic acid. 192

Basically the same reaction was performed with sodium sulfide on 1,3-dibromoacetone dimethyl acetal **295**¹⁹⁸ and 1,3-dichloropropan-2-ol **298** (Scheme 80).¹⁹⁹

Scheme 80



Treatment with sodium sulfide gave thietan-3-one dimethyl acetal **296** and 3-thietanol **299** in 80 and 40% yield, respectively. The former compound was hydrolyzed with mineral acids to afford the thietan-3-one **297**,¹⁹⁸ while the latter compound was oxidized to the thietan-3-one **297** with benzil and tri-*tert*-butoxyaluminum.¹⁹⁹ Further oxidation of this thietan-3-one with perphthalic acid or peracetic acid in benzene gave the corresponding thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide in good yields (83–97%).²⁰⁰ The use of a hydrogen peroxide-acetic acid system resulted in complex reaction mixtures of unreacted starting material, thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide, thietan-3-one-1,1-oxide, and rearrangement products.²⁰⁰

Analogous to the synthesis of thietan-3-one **297** from the acetal **296** by acidic hydrolysis, thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides also were synthesized in this way (Scheme 81).^{183,201-205}

The acetal **300** was obtained from the reaction of 1.1-diethoxyethylene and methanesulfonyl chloride in the presence of triethylamine (yield 79%).^{201–203} Subsequent hydrolysis with hydrochloric acid gave the corresponding thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide 301 (R¹ $= R^{2} = R^{3} = R^{4} = H$) in 90% yield.^{201–203} The reaction has also been performed with halo-substituted methanesulfonyl chlorides.¹⁸³ In this case, hydrolysis did not result in the corresponding thietan-3-one-1.1dioxides **301** ($R^1 = R^2 = R^3 = H$, $R^4 = Cl$, Br, or I) but in halomethyl 2-methyl-2-propenyl sulfone derivatives.¹⁸³ Reaction of phenylmethanesulfonyl chloride with [(1-ethoxy-2-methyl-1-propenyl)oxy]trimethylsilane and subsequent hydrolysis gave the thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide **301** (\mathbb{R}^1 , $\mathbb{R}^2 = \mathbb{C}H_3$; $\mathbb{R}^3 = \mathbb{H}$, $\mathbb{R}^4 = \mathbb{C}H_3$) C₆H₅).²⁰⁴ The hydrolysis of 3-(dialkylamino)thiete-1,1-dioxides 302 also resulted in the formation of the corresponding thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides **303**.^{180–182,205–209} The 3-dialkylaminothiete-1,1-dioxides 302 were obtained from the cycloaddition of alkylsulfonyl chlorides and ketene O,N-acetals or aminals^{180–183,209} or from the cycloaddition of alkylsulfonyl chlorides and alkynylamines.²⁰⁶ Many different compounds 302 have been synthesized in this way. The hydrolysis was performed with an acidic exchange resin (Amberlite IR-120)^{180,181,206} or concentrated hydrochloric acid in water.^{207,209}

Thietan-3-ones were also obtained by the cycloaddition reaction between 1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-2-propanethione **305** and diphenylketene, which gave compound **306** via a [2+2] cycloaddition reaction (Scheme 82).²¹⁰

The cycloaddition of thiobenzophenone and diphenylketene has been reported to give 2,2,4,4-





R¹= R²= R³= R⁴= H



 $R^{1}=R^{2}=CH_{3}; R^{3}=C_{6}H_{5}; R^{4}=R^{5}=C_{2}H_{5}$ $R^{1}=R^{2}=CH_{3}; R^{3}=H; R^{4}, R^{5}=NC_{4}H_{8}O$

 $R^1 = R^2 = R^3 = CH_3; R^4, R^5 = NC_4H_8O$



 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{H}; \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{R}^4 = \mathsf{CH}_3 \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{H}; \, \mathsf{R}^3, \, \mathsf{R}^4 = \mathsf{NC}_4\mathsf{H}_6\mathsf{O} \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{H}; \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{CH}_3; \, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{R}^4 = \mathsf{C}_2\mathsf{H}_5 \\ \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4\mathsf{X} \; (\mathsf{X} = \mathsf{H}, \, \mathsf{CH}_3); \, \mathsf{R}^2 = \mathsf{CH}_3; \, \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{R}^4 = \mathsf{C}_2\mathsf{H}_5 \end{array}$

Scheme 82



tetraphenylthietan-3-one in 85% yield.²¹¹ However, the compound thereby obtained exhibited an IR absorption at 1720 cm⁻¹, i.e., in the region of the isomeric thiolactones.²¹² Thietan-3-ones exhibit an IR absorption near 1770 cm⁻¹, indicating there is no transannular interaction because of the strain in the heterocycle.²¹³ Thus, the previous experiment was repeated, and results indicated the synthesis of thiolactones instead of the first reported thietan-3ones.²¹² From this and the foregoing result, it might be concluded that for the [2+2] cycloaddition with diphenylketene, thioketones need to be strongly activated.

Thietan-3-one **310** was also synthesized, albeit in low yield, by acetolysis of the α -diazoketone **307** (Scheme 83).^{137,214,215}

On treatment of phenylthiodiazoketones with perchloric acid the stable cyclic β -oxosulfonium perchlorates are formed by an intramolecular cyclization.²¹⁶ The thietan-3-one derivatives exhibit an IR absorption at 1812 cm⁻¹ and are reported to be stable for a few weeks.²¹⁶ Further reaction of these compounds with, for instance, thioanisole or triphenylphosphine,

Scheme 83



309 (69%) 310 (2%)

gave the corresponding acyclic salts, i.e., methyl-(phenyl)[(phenylsulfanyl)carbonyl]sulfonium and [2-oxo-2-(phenylsulfanyl)ethyl](triphenyl)phosphonium perchlorates, respectively.²¹⁶ Stable cyclic sulfonium ylides, including ylides with a thietan-3-one structure, have been prepared by rhodium(II)-catalyzed decomposition of ethyl 2-diazo-3-keto-4-thioethylbutanoate.²¹⁷

Treatment of α -diazo-1,2-diphenylethanone with sulfur dioxide was reported to give a mixture of 2-benzoyl-2,4,4-triphenyl-3-thietanone-1,1-dioxide and the corresponding 2-thietanone-1,1-dioxide.²¹⁸ This interpretation of the spectroscopic data of the reaction products turned out to be erroneous, and two other structures were proposed.²¹⁹

The synthesis of 2-phenylthietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide has also been reported starting from ethyl (benzylsulfonyl)acetate upon treatment with sodium hydroxide.²²⁰ The main product was the corresponding carboxylic acid (65%), while the thietan-3-one-1,1dioxide was isolated in a yield of 15%.²²⁰

Finally, a steroidal thietan-3-one has been isolated in very low yield from the reaction of a homo-3D derivative of 17-acetoxy-(21-acetylthio)-4-pregnene-3,20-dione with excess sodium azide in methanol.²²¹

A.2. Synthesis by Ring Transformations

Thietan-3-ones have been synthesized by a variety of procedures involving ring contraction or ring expansion of other sulfur-containing heterocycles. For instance, irradiation of 1,3-dithiane-5-one in acetonitrile with 300 nm light for 27 h gave the thietan-3-one **312** in 21% yield (Scheme 84).²²² Similarly, also

Scheme 84



311b gave the thietan-3-one **312** after irradiation in Freon-113.²²²

Thietan-3-ones were believed to be intermediate structures in the photochemically induced reactions of isothiochroman-4-ones **313** (Scheme 85).^{223,224} Irradiation of compounds **313** led to the isolation of thiochroman-3-one **315** in low yields. The reaction



was believed to proceed via the thietan-3-one triene intermediate **314**. After irradiation for a short time, reaction mixtures exhibited an IR absorption at 1770 cm^{-1} what might be an indication for the formation of the initial photoproduct **314**.

Further photochemical rearrangement of the intermediate **314** was probably the result of excitation of the triene moiety, which was checked with the photolysis of 5-methyl-2,3-dihydro-2H,6H-thiopyran-3-one **316** since no further photochemical rearrangement could take place in this compound if the triene system was responsible for further reaction. Indeed, thietan-3-one **317** proved to be stable under the reaction conditions and was obtained with a yield of 28-35%.^{223,224}

Another synthesis of thietan-3-ones involving ring contraction started from the cyclic α -diazoketone **318** (Scheme 86).^{225–227}

Scheme 86



The α -diazoketone was prepared starting from 2,5dibromo-2,5-dimethyl-3,4-hexanedione, which was reacted with sodium sulfide.²²⁵ The resulting 2,2,5,5tetramethyl-3,4(2*H*,5*H*)-thiophenedione was converted to the α -diazoketone **318** via the tosylhydrazine. Thermally induced decomposition gave the thietan-3-one **320** in quantitative yield.²²⁵ The proposed structure **320** was firmly established by crystallographic analysis of the cycloaddition product of **320** with tetrachloro-*o*-quinone.²²⁶

Photoisomerization of thiir-3-ones **321** when irradiated in acetonitrile, benzene or 2-propanol gave selectively the thietan-3-ones **323** (Scheme 87).^{228,229}

The sulfuranyl-alkyl singlet biradical **322** was proposed as intermediate in this reaction on the basis of the observation that the efficiency of the rearrangement was not dependent on or sensitive to the stability of the displaced radical group and that the reaction was not quenched by naphthalene.²²⁸ Oxidation of thiir-3-ones **321** with 3-chloroperbenzoic acid yielded the sulfoxides **324** that rearranged to the seven-membered cyclic sulfenates **325** when irradi-





ated.²²⁹ Heating of these sulfenates in deuterated acetonitrile gave the thietan-3-one **326**, while performing the irradiation of **325** in methanol afforded two diastereoisomeric products **327** in 7 and 10% yield, respectively.²²⁹

Thietan-3-ones are also reported being part of a molecule as substructure (Scheme 88).

Scheme 88



The photolysis of the δ -thia- α , β -unsaturated ketone **328** resulted in the formation of thietan-3-one **330**.^{230,231} The overall reaction consisted of a 1,3migration of the sulfur atom. Further evidence was supplied that the reaction took place via a [2+2]cycloaddition of the vinylketene intermediate **329**.²³⁰

Reaction of cyclic disulfides with carbenes, generated from catalytic or photochemical decomposition of diazo compounds, resulted in the formation of tetrasubstituted thietan-3-ones (Scheme 89, Table 5).²³²

Scheme 89



The products **332** resulted from S–S insertion of the disulfide and subsequent desulfurization. Only in the case of ethyl diazoacetate (entry d, Table 5), the reaction only gave the insertion product **333**.²³²

Tetramethyl-3-thietanone was reported to form stable complexes with diiron nonacarbonyl.²³³ Thi-

Table 5. Reaction Partners and Yields in theSynthesis of 332

	diazo compound	catalyst	332 , yield, %
a	$N_2C(C_6H_5)_2$	CuCl	28
b	$N_2C(C_6H_5)_2$	[Rh(OAc) ₂] ₂	29
c	N ₂ C(COOCH ₃) ₂	[<i>hv</i>]	33
d	N ₂ CHCOOC ₂ H ₅	CuCl	

etan-3-ones were also obtained by decomposition of another diiron nonacarbonyl complex. The complex formed by 2-*tert*-butyl-3-(diphenylmethylene)thiirane and diiron nonacarbonyl decomposed when heated in toluene in a sealed tube to give rise to the corresponding alkylidenethietan-3-one with a yield of 45%.²³⁴ When substituted 2-(1,2-propadienylidene)thiiranes and 2-ethenylidene-3-methylenethiiranes were decomposed thermally or photochemically, substituted 2-ethenylidene-3-thietan-3-thiones were isolated from the reaction mixture, together with other rearranged products.²³⁵

Rearrangement of the 1,2-dithiole **334** furnished mainly the 1,3-dithiole **335** and thietan-3-thione **336** (Scheme 90).²³⁶

Scheme 90



B. Chemical Properties of Thietan-3-ones

The main reactivity of thietan-3-ones is very similar to the reactivity of azetidin-3-ones and oxetan-3ones. Principle transformations include of course transformations of the carbonyl group and aldol reactions. Further, also ring transformations, including ring expansion and ring opening, have been described.

B.1. Transformations of the Carbonyl Group

Of course, this transformation includes the reduction of the carbonyl group to obtain the corresponding thietan-3-ol. Reduction was performed with sodium borohydride in methanol/water¹⁹⁸ or in methanol.¹⁹¹ The thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide was also reduced to the corresponding thietan-3-ol-1,1-dioxide under the action of diborane in dioxane.^{201,202}

Thietan-3-amines have been synthesized by reduction of thietan-3-one oximes, obtained from the reaction of thietan-3-ones and *O*-substituted hydroxylamines.²³⁷ 3-Amino-2,2,4,4-tetramethylthietane has also been obtained via the Leuckart reaction between 2,2,4,4-tetramethyl-thietan-3-one and dimethylformamide, using boric acid or aluminum salts as catalysts.²³⁸ Thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides have been reacted with monosubstituted ureas to give thietylureas, which are reported to have antihypertensive activities.²³⁹ Also, a Grignard reaction of phenylmagnesium bromide on thietan-3-one itself has been reported.²⁴⁰

The thietan-3-ones **337** have also been converted in the corresponding thietan-3-one hydrazones **338** (Scheme 91).^{175,196,196,227,241}

Scheme 91



This research was mainly done toward the synthesis of alkylidene thiiranes **339** and to explore the further reactivity of the latter compounds. The thietan-3-one hydrazones **338** were pyrolyzed at 130-160 °C and pressures of $10^{-4}-10^{-3}$ Torr, after their conversion into the corresponding salt by treatment with butyllithium^{195,227,241} or sodium hydride.^{175,196} Direct preparation of hydrazone **338** from thietan-3-one **337** and tosylhydrazine only gave **338** in poor yields (38% or lower).^{195,196,241} These low yields were circumvented by reacting thietan-3-one **337** first with unsubstituted hydrazine, which gave the corresponding thietan-3-one hydrazone in good yield (97%).¹⁹⁶ Reaction of the hydrazine with tosyl chloride in the presence of a base finally afforded the hydrazone **338**.¹⁹⁶

The reaction of 2,2,4,4-tetramethylthietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide with hydrazine was not so unambiguous. Attempts to react tetramethylthietan-3-one-1,1dioxide with hydrazine in ethanol led to the isolation of the ring-opened substituted sulfonylpropanohydrazide.²⁴² The conversion to the thietan-3-one-1,1dioxide hydrazone was only obtained when doing the reaction in a diluted dioxane solution. Performing the reaction in a more concentrated solution resulted in a mixture of the desired hydrazone and the corresponding diazine.²⁴²

Other reactions of thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide included thioacetal formation, yielding a 1,3-dithiane structure.¹⁸³ Reaction of thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide with aromatic amines gave the corresponding imines in rather poor yields (12–48%). These latter compounds also exhibited keto-enol tautomerism.¹⁸³ In general, the reaction of thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides with nucleophiles is not so unambiguous since the sulfoxide group might stabilize the negative charge on the methylene group after ring opening.

Several reports included the transformation of thietan-3-ones or thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides in the corresponding thioketones. In the case of thietan-3one, this conversion has been accomplished by the use of a mixture of trimethyl orthoformate, hydrogen sulfide, and hydrochloric acid²⁴³ or the use of dichlorodisulfane on the corresponding hydrazone.²⁴⁴ For thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides, this conversion has been performed by the use of phosphorus pentasulfide in pyridine.²⁰⁰ In the latter case, this transformation was done to avoid Wittig reactions of thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides. It has been reported that Wittig reactions on either thietan-3-ones or thietan-3-one-1,1dioxides caused problems.²⁰⁰ To avoid these problems, thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides were converted into the corresponding thicketones, that were reacted with diazoalkanes. The intermediate thiiranes underwent desulfurization to the corresponding alkenes when treated with triphenylphosphine.²⁰⁰

Thietan-3-ones **340** were converted, using known transformations, into the corresponding thioketone **342** and the diazo compound **344** (Scheme 92).²⁴⁴

Scheme 92



These compounds reacted with each other to give thiadiazoline **345**. By heating the thiadiazoline until nitrogen loss had stopped, the thiirane **346** was obtained. Final desulfurization proceeded smoothly with tri-*n*-butylphosphine, trimethyl phosphite, or tri(diethylamino)phosphine.²⁴⁴ In this way, the alkene **347** was obtained. An almost completely analo-

gous pathway has been described for thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides.²⁴² Reaction of the thioketone and the diazo compound derived from thietan-3-one-1,1dioxide gave the corresponding dihydrothiadiazole in modest yield (21%) because of the instability of the diazocompound. Further transformation to the alkene proceeded without further difficulties.²⁴² Further pyrolysis of the alkene gave (2,2,3,3-tetramethylcyclopropylidene)thietane-1,1-dioxide derivative **348** and 4-isopropyl-2,5-dimethyl-3-(1-methylethylidene)-1,4-hexadiene **349** (Figure 8).²⁴²



Figure 8.

B.2. Aldol Reactions

The aldol reaction of 2-benzylidene-3-thietanone **351** with benzaldehyde in the presence of sodium hydroxide was described to give the bisbenzylidene-3-thietanone **352** (Scheme 93).¹⁸⁴

Scheme 93



Preliminary attempts to perform an aldol reaction between thietan-3-one 350 and benzaldehyde gave immediately the bisbenzylidene derivative 352.177 Compounds, possessing the general structure 352, were used in photoresists as UV-absorbing agents to suppress halation and notching in pattern formation on highly reflective substrates.²⁴⁵ Using more controlled reaction conditions also permitted isolation of the monosubstituted thietan-3-one **351**.¹⁷⁷ Reaction of the latter compound with thionyl chloride resulted in chlorination of the double bond.¹⁸⁷ The aldol reaction of thietan-3-one 350 with para-substituted benzaldehydes gave rise to reaction mixtures of the bisbenzylidene derivatives, the benzylidene derivatives, and nondehydrated products.²⁴⁶ Reaction with formaldehyde gave the tetrakis(hydroxymethyl)thietan-3-one.²⁴⁶ The aldol reaction performed on

Scheme 94

thietan-3-one 350 was also the key step in the synthesis of the natural product 353.¹⁷⁷

B.3. Ring Transformations

Thermolysis of thietan-3-ones at 900 °C in vacuo yielded ketene and thioxomethane.²⁴⁷ To obtain sulfenes, thermolysis of substituted thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides at 930–950 °C was performed.^{248,249} In this case, only the formation of the corresponding alkenes (yield 96–98%) could be observed. However, photochemical decomposition of thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide in acetonitrile or acetonitrile-methanol mixture resulted in the formation of ketene and sulfene.²⁵⁰ These authors also stated that thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide in a 90% acetonitrile–10% methanol mixture was present as thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxide and as the corresponding hemiacetal (ratio 1 to 9).

Photochemically induced decomposition of isopropylidenethietan-3-one **354** gave the products **357** and **359** by a radical ring opening, followed by two different pathways for the rearrangement (Scheme 94).²²⁶

Also reductive desulfurization of thietan-3-ones was reported to give the corresponding substituted ketones.²¹⁰

Ring opening of thietan-3-ones and thietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides has been reported to occur under the action of primary and secondary amines. Reaction of thietan-3-one with secondary amines such as morpholine did not give enamines but the ring opened 2-oxopropionthioamides.²⁵¹ The same reaction performed on 2-methylthietan-3-one-1,1-dioxides gave ring opening to the N,N-dialkyl-2-(methylsulfonyl)acetamides.²⁰⁶ The reaction of thietan-3-one-1,1-













Scheme 98



pathway that was followed depended on the amine used (Scheme 95).

Scheme 99

Thietan-3-one **364**, in reaction with sodium hydrogen sulfide, afforded 1-mercapto-2-propanon **365**, which was in equilibrium with its dimer (Scheme 96).^{193,252} The dimer **366** degradated on heating to the monomer **365**. Storage at room temperature and air resulted in oxidation to the product **367**.¹⁹³

Further reaction of **365** by an aldol reaction furnished the thiophene **368** and the dimers **369**.¹⁹³

Another type of ring opening of thietan-3-ones was achieved by reaction with triphenylphosphine, tri-*n*butylphosphine, or tris-(4-methoxyphenyl)phosphine in methanol (Scheme 97).²⁵³

However, when the reaction was performed in a methanol-furan (1:1) mixture, 2-endo,4-endo-dimethyl-8-oxabicyclo[3.2.1]oct-6-en-3-one **374** was obtained, probably from the [4+3] cycloaddition of furan with 1,3-dimethylallylium-2-olate **373**.

Oxidation of thietan-3-one **375** with 3-chloroperbenzoic acid in dichloromethane gave the oxathiepinone-2-oxide **377** (Scheme 98).²²⁹

Probably, **377** arose from the intermediate thietan-3-one-1-oxide **376** that was further oxidized to the 1,1-dioxide and underwent a [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement.²²⁹

Finally, a thermal rearrangement of thietan-3-one-1-oxides has been described which showed some analogy to the ring expansion of penicillin *S*-oxides (Scheme 99).²⁵⁴

When heating thietan-3-one-1-oxide **378** in benzene, the products recovered from the reaction mixture were **380a** and **381**, in 25 and 67% yield, respectively.²⁵⁴ In the penicillin series, it was shown that Lewis acids or acetic anhydride catalyzed the cleavage of the sulfur–oxygen bond in the transformation of **383** to **384a** or **384b**, respectively. Similarly, when the sulfoxide **378** was refluxed in acetic anhydride only the acetate **380b** was obtained in 77% yield.²⁵⁴

From the reactions and syntheses for thietan-3ones, summarized in this chapter, it can be seen that its chemistry is in one way similar to the chemistry of azetidin-3-ones and oxetan-3-ones, but in another



way also peculiar because of the nature of the sulfur atom. Moreover, the possibility to synthesize thietan-3-one-1-oxides and thietan-3-one-1,1-oxides from the corresponding thietan-3-ones broadens the scope of the reactivity of these compounds. It should be stressed that there are still possibilities in this area of research, since the chemistry of all these compounds overlap with each other.

V. Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to INTAS for financial support of this research (Grant 93-8-EXT).

VI. References

- Koppel, G. A. In Small Ring Heterocycles; Hassner, A., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1983; part 2, Vol. 2, p 223.
- (2) Hegedus, L. Pure Appl. Chem. 1983, 55, 1745
- (3) Davies, D. E.; Storr, R. C. Comprehensive Heterocycl. Chem. 1984, 7, 237.
- (4) Dürckheimer, W.; Blumbach, J.; Lattrell, R.; Scheunemann, K. H. Angew. Chem. 1985, 97, 183.
- (5) Miller, M. J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1986, 19, 49.
- (6) Nagahara, T.; Kametani, T. Heterocycles 1987, 26, 729.
- (7) Sandhu, J. S.; Sain, B. Heterocycles 1987, 26, 777.
- (8) Cooper, R. D. G.; Daugherty, B. W.; Boyd, D. B. Pure Appl. Chem. 1987, *59*, 485.
- Siriwardane, U.; Chu, S. C. C.; Buynak, J. D. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C., Cryst. Struct. Commun. **1988**, C44, 391. (9)
- (10) Barrett, A.; Sturgess, M. A. Tetrahedron 1988, 44, 5615.
 (11) Hart, D. H.; Ha, D.-C. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1447.

- (12) Brown, M. J. *Heterocycles* 1989, *29*, 2225.
 (13) Backes, J. in Houden Weyl's *Methoden der Organischen Chemie*, (13)*Vol XVI/B*; Georg Thieme Verlag: Stuttgart, 1991; p 31. (14) Van der Steen, F. H.; Van Koten, G. *Tetrahedron* **1991**, *47*, 7503.
- (15) Page, M. I., Ed.; *The Chemistry of* β *-Lactams*; Chapman and Hall: New York, 1992.
- (16) George, G. I., Ed.; The Organic Chemistry of β -Lactams; VCH
- Publishers: New York, 1993. (17) De Kimpe, N. Azetidines, Azetines and Azetes in Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II, a Review of the Literature of 1982-
- 1995, Volume 1B; Pergamon: Oxford, 1996.
- (18) Emmer, G. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 7165.
- (19) Hanessian, S.; Fu, J.-M.; Isono, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 4153.
- (20) Hanessian, S.; Fu, J.-M.; Chiara, J.-L.; Di Fabio, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 4157.
- (21) Isono, K.; Asahi, K.; Suzuki, S. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1969**, *91*, 7490.
 (22) Baumann, H.; Duthaler, R. O. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1988**, *71*, 1025.
- Seo, G.; Akimoto, Y.; Hamashima, H.; Masuda, K.; Shiojima, K.; (23)Sakuma, C.; Sasatsu, M.; Arai, T. Microbios 2000, 101, 105; Chem. Abstr. 2000, 132, 331759h.
- (24) Baumann, H.; Duthaler, R. O. Helv. Chim. Acta 1988, 71, 1035.
- Aliev, Z. G.; Atovmyan, L. O.; Sipyagin, A. M.; Kartsev, V. G.; Dobrokhotova, O. V. *Khim. Geterosiki. Soedin.* **1987**, 468; *Chem.* Abstr. 1988, 108, 131447x.
- (26) Worman, J. J.; Boerger, M. Proc. North Dakota Acad. Sci. 1979, 33, 28; Chem. Abstr. 1979, 91, 140154g.
- (27) Zvonok, A. M.; Kuzmenok, N. M. Statya v sbornike Sovremennye Problemy Sinteza Organicheskich Soedinenii Dep. V ONIITE-Him., Therkassy, N 1097-HP-86 Dep. P.1. C.123–129.
 Podlech, J.; Seebach, D. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 1995, *78*, 1238.
- (29) Sandris, C.; Ourisson, G. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1958, 345.
- (30) Charbatyan, P. A.; Ledelev, A. T.; Sipyagin, A. M.; Kartsev, V. G.; Petrosyan, V. S. Khim. Geterosikl. Socdin. 1982, 334; Chem. Abstr. 1982, 97, 38780v.
- (31) Chatterjee, S. S.; Shoeb, A. Synthesis 1973, 153.
 (32) Gaertner, V. R. J. Org. Chem. 1967, 32, 2972.
- Chatterjee, S. S.; Triggle, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (33) **1968**, 93.
- (34) Okutani, T.; Kaneko, T.; Masuda, K. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1974, 22, 1490.
- (35) Higgins, R. H.; Eaton, Q. L.; Worth, Jr.; Peterson, M. V. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1987, 24, 255.
- (36) Higgins, R. H.; Watson, M. R.; Faircloth, W. J.; Eaton, Q. L.; Jenkins, H., Jr. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1988, 25, 383.
- (37) Laguerre, M.; Boyer, C.; Leger, J. M.; Carpy, A. Can. J. Chem. **1989**, *67*, 1514.
- (38) Chatterjee, S. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1972, 5063.
- (39) Parikh, J. R.; Doering, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 5505.
 (40) Morimoto, A.; Okutani, T.; Masuda, K. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1973, 21. 228.

- (41) Gold, E. H. Ger. Offen. 1.932.985, 1970; Chem. Abstr. 1970, 72, 66790a
- (42) Gold, E. H. U. S. Pat. 3.898.142, 1975; Chem. Abstr. 1975, 83, (42) Guid, D. H. C. O'F and C. Soler Li, 1917, Christ, Christ, 1918,

- *dron* **1993**, *49*, 4201. Kobayashi, T.; Inoue, T.; Nishino, S.; Fujihara, Y.; Oizumi, K.;
- (46)Kimura, T. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1995**, *43*, 797. (47) Dave, P. R. *J. Org. Chem.* **1996**, *61*, 5453.
- Axenrod, T.; Watnick, C.; Yazdekhasti, H.; Dave, P. R. Tetra-hedron Lett. 1993, 34, 6677. (48)
- Dall'Asta, L.; Pedrazzoli, A. *Experientia* **1970**, *26*, 1188; *Chem. Abstr.* **1971**, *74*, 12905q. (49)
- (50)Chen, T.; Sanjiki, T.; Kato, H.; Ohta, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. **1967**, 40, 2398.
- (51)Espie, J.-C.; Rassat, A. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1971, 4385
- Marchand, A. P.; Rajagopal, D.; Bott, S. G.; Archibald, T. G. J. (52)Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 1612.
- (53)Marchand, A. P.; Rajagopal, D.; Bott, S. G.; Archibald, T. G. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 5499.
- Marchand, A. P.; Sharma, G. V. M.; Rajagopal, D.; Shukla, R.; (54)Mloston, G.; Bartnik, R. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1996, 33, 837.
- (55) Marchand, A. P.; Devasagayaraj, A. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 4434
- Marchand, A. P.; Devasagayaraj, A. *Synth. Comm.* **1999**, *29*, 885. Katritzky, A. R.; Cundy, D. J.; Chen, J. *J. Heterocycl. Chem.* **1994**, *31*, 271. (57)
- (58) Axenrod, T.; Watnick, C.; Yazdekhasti, H.; Dave, P. R. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 1959.
- Dave, P. R. U.S. Patent 5.580.988, 1996; Chem. Abstr. 1997, 126, (59)P47087u.
- PCT Int. Appl. WO 9636.602; Chem. Abstr. 1997, 126, P74727j. Bartnik, R.; Lésniak, S.; Mloston, G.; Romanski, J. Pol. J. Chem. (61)
- **1994**, *68*, 1347.
- (62)Bach, H. C. U.S. Patent 3.386.966, 1968; Chem. Abstr. 1968, 69, 28096j.
- (63) Shono, T.; Kise, N.; Kunimi, N.; Nomura, R. Chem. Lett. 1991, 2191.
- (64) De Smaele, D.; Dejaegher, Y.; Duvey, G.; De Kimpe, N. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 2373.
- Moore, J. A.; Medeiros, R. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1959, 81, 6026. (65)
- (66) Ramsay, B. G.; Stoodley, R. J. J. Chem. Soc. (C) 1969, 1319.
 (67) Ramsay, B. G.; Stoodley, R. J. J. Chem. Soc. (C) 1971, 3864.
 (68) Heck, J. V. U.S. Patent 4.529.597, 1985; Chem. Abstr. 1985, 103,
- 215076k. Sipyagin, A. M.; Kartsev, V. G. Zh. Org. Khim. 1980, 16, 2447; (69)

- *104*, 224405q.
- (72) Pusino, A.; Saba, A.; Desole, G.; Rosnati, V. *Gazz. Chim. Ital.* **1985**, *115*, 33; *Chem. Abstr.* **1985**, *103*, 71128d.
 (73) Wang, J.; Hou, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **1998**, 1919.
- (74) Drey, C. N. C.; Mtetwa, E. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1982, 1587.
- Sengupta, S.; Das, D. Synth. Commun. 1998, 28, 403. (75)
- (76) Desai, P.; Aube, J. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 1657.
- Wang, J.; Hou, Y.; Wu, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, (77)2277
- (78) Moyer, M. P.; Feldman, P. L.; Rapoport, H. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 5223.
- (79)Lebedev, A. T.; Samguina, T. Y.; Petrosyan, V. S.; Blumenthal, T.; Sipyagin, A. M.; Kartsev, V. G. Org. Mass Spectrom. 1992, 27, 730.
- (80) Hargrove, W. W. S. African Patent 6.705.790, 1968; Chem. Abstr. 1969, 70, 87550w.
- Hargrove, W. W. U.S. Patent, 3.481.920, 1969; Chem. Abstr. (81)1970, 72, 43408t.
- (82) Hargrove, W. W. U.S. Patent 3.494.964, 1970; Chem. Abstr. 1970, *72*, 90256b. (83) Hargrove, W. W. U.S. Patent 3.668.196, 1972; Chem. Abstr. 1972,
- 77, 126404t.
- (84) Frigola, J.; Torrens, A.; Castrillo, J. A.; Mas, J.; Vano, D.; Berrocal, J. M.; Calvet, C.; Salgado, L.; Redondo, J.; Garcia-Granda, S.; Valenti, E.; Quintana, J. R. J. Med. Chem. 1994, 37, 4195.
- (85) Chowdhurry, A. R.; Kumar, V. V.; Roy, R.; Bhaduri, A. P. J. Chem. Res. (S) 1997, 254.
- (86)Zvonok, A. M.; Kuz'menok, N. M.; Tischenko, I. G.; Stanishevskii, L. S. Vsetsouzn. Konf. Po Khimii Geterosikl. Soed., Abstract p 165, Rostov-na-Donu, 1983.
- (87)Zvonok, A. M.; Kuz'menok, N. M. Statya dep. N 873-Be-D84, **1984**, 1–15.
- (88)Zvonok, A. M.; Kuz'menok, N. M.; Stanishevskii, L. S. Khim. Geterosikl. Soedin. 1988, 307; Chem. Abstr. 1988, 109, 230662r.

- (89) Zvonok, A. M.; Kuz'menok, N. M.; Stanishevskii, L. S. 12th International Congress of Heterocyclic Chemistry, Abstract, p 248, Jerusalem, 1989.
- (90) Charrier, J.; Person, H.; Foucaud, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1979, 1381.
- (91) Charrier, J.; Foucaud, A.; Person, H.; Loukakou, E. J. Org. Chem. **1983**, *48*, 481
- (92) Burger, K.; Marschke, G.; Manz, F. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1982, 19 1315
- 19, 1315.
 (93) Gondos, G.; Gera, L.; Bartok, M. J. Mol. Catal. 1989, 57, 81.
 (94) Frigola, J.; Pares, J.; Corbera, J.; Vano, D.; Merce, R.; Torrens, A.; Mas, J.; Valenti, A. J. Med. Chem. 1993, 36, 801.
 (95) Taylor, G. M.; Baker, S. J.; Gedney, A.; Pearson, D. J.; Sibley, G. E. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 1297.
 (96) Nitta, Y.; Yamaguchi, T.; Tanaka, T. Heterocycles 1986, 24, 25.
 (97) Colara, M. L. Poleo, M. P.; Sordina, E. L. J. Am. Cham. Soc.
- (97) Calaza, M. I.; Paleo, M. R.; Sardina, F. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2001**. 123. 2095.
- (98)Bacque, E.; Paris, J.-M.; Bitoux, S. Synth. Commun. 1995, 25, 803
- (99)Seitz, G.; Hoffmann, H. Arch. Pharm. 1977, 310, 757; Chem. Abstr. 1978, 88, 37529x.
- (100) Seitz, G.; Hoffmann, H. Chem. Ztg. 1976, 100, 440; Chem. Abstr. 1977, 86, 89482e.
- Marchand, A. P.; Ramanaiah, K. C. V.; Bott, G.; Gilbert, J. C.; Kirschner, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 8101. (101)
- (102) Moore, J. A.; Binkert, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1959, 81, 6029.
 (103) Moore, J. A.; Marascia, F. J.; Medeiros, R. W.; Wyss, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1962, 84, 3022.
- Marchand, A. P.; Rajagopal, D.; Bott, S. G. J. Heterocycl. Chem. (104)1995, *32*, 1409.
- Zvonok, A. M. Dissertation dokt. Nauk. Minsk, 1990, 467. (105)
- (106) Marchand, A. P.; Devasagayaraj, A.; Bott, S. G. Heterocycles 1998. 149.
- (107) Marshall, J. R.; Walker, J. J. Chem. Soc. 1952, 467.
- (108) Berezin, G. H. U.S. Patent 3.297.719, 1967; Chem. Abstr. 1967, 67, 21807s.
- (109) Williams, H. D. U.S. Patent 3.317.329, 1967; Chem. Abstr. 1967, 67, 3923x.
- (110) Vorlander, D.; Weinstein, P. Ber. 1923, 56, 1122; Chem. Abstr. 1923, 17, 3177
- (111) Langenbeck, W.; Langenbeck, H. Ber. **1928**, 61B, 938; Chem. Abstr. **1928**, 22, 2746.
- (112) Schönberg, A.; Sina, A. J. Chem. Soc. 1947, 175; Chem. Abstr. 1947, 41, 5123c.
- (113) Armstrong, R. S.; LeFèvre, R. J. W. Aust. J. Chem. 1957, 10, 34; Chem. Abstr. 1957, 51, 10443d.
- (114) Hirschmann, R.; Bailey, G. A.; Poos, G. I.; Walker, R.; Chemerda, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1956, 78, 4814.
- (115) Rowland, A. T.; Bennett, P. J.; Shoupe, T. S. J. Org. Chem. 1968, 33. 2426.
- (116) Hanna, R.; Maalouf, G.; Muckensturm, B. *Tetrahedron* **1973**, *29*, 2297.
- (117) Pons, M.; Simons, J. J., Jr. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 3262.
- (118) Upjohn, Co. Brit. Patent 869.564, 1959; Chem. Abstr. 1962, 56, 2490d.
- (119) Martino, P. C.; Shevlin, P. B.; Worley, S. D. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1979**, *68*, 237.
- (120) Combs, L. L.; Rossie, M., Jr. J. Mol. Struct. 1976, 32, 1.
 (121) Pasto, D. J.; Chipman, D. M.; Worman, J. J. J. Phys. Chem. 1982, 86, 3981.
- (122) Gibson, J. S.; Harris, D. O. J. Chem. Phys. 1972, 57, 2318.
- (123) Durig, J. R.; Morrissey, A. C.; Harris, W. C. J. Mol. Struct. 1970, *6*, 375
- (124) Carreira, L. A.; Lord, R. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1969, 51, 3225.
- (125) Thomson, C. J. Mol. Struct. 1982, 88, 55.
 (126) Pajunen, P. J. Chem. Phys. 1984, 80, 800.
- (127) Rosas, R. L.; Cooper, C.; Laane, J. J. Phys. Chem. 1990, 94, 1830.
- (128) Meinzer, A. L.; Pringle, W. C. J. Phys. Chem. 1976, 80, 1178.
 (129) Norris, C. L.; Tigelaar, H. L.; Flygare, W. H. Chem. Phys. 1973,
- 1. 1.
- (130) Ducruix, A.; Pascard, C.; David, S.; Fischer, J.-C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1976, 1678.
- (131) Bellamy, L. J. The Infrared Spectra of Complex Molecules, Vol. l, 3rd ed.; Wiley: New York, 1975; p 169.
- (132) Dittus, G. in Houben Weyl's *Methoden der Organischen Chemie*, *Vol. VI/3*; Georg Thieme Verlag: Stuttgart, 1963, p 515.
 (133) Searles, S. Jr. in *Heterocyclic Compounds, Vol. II/2A*; Weissberger, Ed.; Interscience Publishers: New York, 1964; p 983.
- (134) Thijs, L.; Cillissen, P. J. M.; Zwanenburg, B. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 9985
- (135) Padwa, A.; Sa, M. M. Quimica Nova 1999, 22, 815.
- (136) Wojtowicz, J. A.; Polak, R. J. J. Org. Chem. **1973**, *38*, 2061.
 (137) Pusino, A.; Rosnati, V.; Solinas, C.; Vettori, U. Tetrahedron **1983**, 39, 2259.

- (138) David, S. M.; Fischer, J.-C. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1976**, *50*, 239.
 (139) David, S. M.; Fischer, J.-C. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1974**, *38*, 147.
 (140) Hoey, G. B.; Dean, D. O.; Lester, C. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1955**, *50*, 239. 77. 391.
- (141) Gollnick, K.; Schnatterer, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 173.

- (142) Richet, H. Ann. Chim. 1948, 3, 317; Chem. Abstr. 1949, 43, 1392d.
- (143) Murr, B. L.; Hoey, G. B.; Lester, C. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77. 4430.
- (144) Harper, J. L.; Lester, C. T. J. Org. Chem. 1961, 26, 1294.
- (145) Sandris, C.; Ourisson, G. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1956, 958.
- (146) Kitagawa, M.; Hasegawa, S.; Saito, S.; Shimada, N.; Takita, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 3531.
- (147) Donnelly, J. A.; O'Donnell, R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1972, 1875.
- (148) Rowland, A. T.; Drawbaugh, R. S.; Dalton, J. R. J. Org. Chem. 1977, 42, 487.
- (149) Hanna, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1973, 3349.
- (150) Kamernitskii, A. V.; Turuta, A. M.; Fadeeva, T. M. Izv. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, Ser. Khim. 1985, 1683; Chem. Abstr. 1985, 103, 142257h.
- (151) Herz, J. E.; Fried, J.; Grabowich, P.; Sabo, E. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1956, 78, 4812.
- (152) Allen, W. S.; Bernstein, S.; Heller, M.; Littell, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 4784.
- (153) Heller, M.; Lenhard, R. H.; Bernstein, S. Steroids 1965, 5, 615.
- (154) Crandall, J. K.; Machleder, W. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1966**, 6037.
- (155) Pansevich-Kolyada, V. I.; Idelchik, Z. B. J. Gen. Chem. USSR 1954, 24, 1601
- (156) Crandall, J. K.; Machleder, W. H.; Thomas, M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 7346
- (157) Crandall, J. K.; Machleder, W. H. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1969, 6,
- (158) Crandall, J. K.; Conover, W. W.; Komin, J. B.; Machleder, W. H. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 1723.
- Crandall, J. K.; Batal, D. J.; Sebesta, D. P.; Lin, F. J. Org. Chem. (159)1991, 56, 1153.
- (160) Crandall, J. K.; Batal, D. J.; Lin, F.; Reix, T.; Nadol, G. S.; Ng, R. A. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 1427.
- (161) Oku, A.; Shimada, K.; Mashio, F. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1973, 46. 275.

- (162) Schroeter, H.; Orlando, C. M., Jr. J. Org. Chem. 1969, 34, 1181.
 (163) Colson, P.-J.; Hegedus, L. S. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 4972.
 (164) Hung, M.-H.; Farnham, W. B. J. Chin. Chem. Soc. 1993, 40, 563. (165) Roux, E. le; Baronnet, F.; Scacchi, G. J. Chim. Phys. Phys. Chim.
- Biol. 1988, 85, 209. (166)
- Lynch, J. E.; Riseman, S. M.; Laswell, W. L.; Tschaen, D. M.; Volante, R. P.; Smith, G. B.; Shinkai, I. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 3792.
- (167) Donnelly, J. A.; Hoey, J. G.; O'Donnell, R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1974, 1218.
- Wagner, P. J.; Stout, C. A.; Searles, S., Jr.; Hammond, G. S. J. (168)Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 1242.
- (169) Trozzolo, A.; Do-Minh, T.; Griffin, G. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92. 1402.
- (170) Wasacz, J. P.; Joullié, M. M.; Mende, U.; Fuss, I.; Griffin, G. W. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41, 572.
- (171) Tomioka, H.; Griffin, G. W.; Nishiyama, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1979**, *101*, 6009.
- (172) Breuer, G. M.; Lewis, R. S.; Lee, E. K. C. J. Phys. Chem. 1975, 79. 1985
- (173) Berezin, G. H. U.S. Patent 3.449.369 1969; Chem. Abstr. 1969, 71. 274.
- (174) Yates, P.; Szabo, A. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1965, 485.
- (175) Hortmann, A. G.; Bhattachavjya, A.; J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 7081
- (176) Szabo, I.; Kovacs, K.; Bartok, M. Acta Chim. Acad. Sci. Hung. 1967, 51, 411; Chem. Abstr. 1967, 67, 53941x.
- (177) Bohlmann, F.; Skuballa, W. Chem. Ber. 1973, 106, 497
- (178) Blackwell, C. S.; Lord, R. C. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1975, 55, 460.
- (179) Avirah, T. K.; Cook, R. L.; Malloy, T. B., Jr. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1975, 55, 464.
- (180) Hasek, R. H.; Gott, P. G.; Meen, R. H.; Martin, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1963, 28, 2496.
- (181) Hasek, R. H.; Meen, R. H.; Martin, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1965, 30, 1495.
- Truce, W. E.; Bavry, R. H.; Bailey, P. S., Jr. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1968, 5651. (182)
- Ried, W.; Paraskévova, J. Sulfur Lett. 1982, 1, 79. (183)
- Krubsack, A. J.; Higa, T.; Slack, W. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, (184) 92, 5258
- (185) Krubsack, A. J.; Sehgal, R.; Loong, W.-A. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 3179.
- (186)Pizey, J. S.; Symeonides, K. Phosphorus Sulfur 1976, 41.
- (187) Pizey, J. S.; Symeonides, K. Phosphorus Sulfur 1980, 1

Abstr. 1932, 26, 4797.

(188) Knaup, G.; Retzow, S.; Weckbecker, C. Ger. Offen. DE 19.505.995 1996; Chem. Abstr. 1996, 125, 221554k. (189) Naik, K. G.; Thosar, V. B. J. Ind. Chem. Soc. 1932, 9, 127; Chem.

(190) Claeson, G.; Thalen, A. Acta Chem. Scand. 1963, 17, 1172; Chem. (191) Claeson, G.; Thalen, A.; Schotte, L. Arkiv. Chem. 1963, 21, 295; Chem. Abstr. 1963, 59, 12735f.

- (192) Claeson, G.; Thalen, A. Acta Chem. Scand. 1963, 17, 2763; Chem. Abstr. **1964**, 60, 8008f. (193) Föhlisch, B.; Gottstein, W. Liebigs Ann. Chem. **1979**, 1768.
- Luhmann, U.; Wentz, F. G.; Lüttke, W.; Süsse, P. Chem. Ber. (194)1977, 110, 1421.
- (195) Furuhata, T.; Ando, W. Tetrahedron 1986, 42, 5301.
 (196) Quast, H.; Fuss, A.; Jakobi, H. Chem. Ber. 1991, 124, 1747.
 (197) Zheng, Q.; Cong, G.; Zhang, H.; Zhang, J. Huaxue Tongbao 1998, arXiv:1011. 39; Chem. Abstr. 1999, 130, 38319b.
- (198) Mayer, R.; Funk, K. F. Angew. Chem. **1961**, *73*, 578. (199) Prinzbach, H.; Veh, G.v. Z. Naturforsch. **1961**, *16b*, 763; Chem. Abstr. 1962, 56, 15452e.
- (200) Bushby, R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1975, 2513.
- (201) Truce, W. E.; Norell, J. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1963, 85, 3236.
 (202) Truce, W. E.; Norell, J. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1963, 1297.
- (203) Truce, W. E.; Breiter, J. J.; Abraham, D. J.; Norell, J. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1962, 84, 3030.
- (204) Shipov, A. G.; Bankov, Y. I. J. Gen. Chem. USSR (Engl. Transl.) 1986, 112
- (205) Martin, J. C. U. S. Pat. 3.347.868, 1967; Chem. Abstr. 1968, 68, 87133w
- (206) Rosen, M. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1969, 647.
- (207) Del Buttero, P.; Maiorana, S.; Trautluft, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1974, 1411.
- (208) Truce, W. E.; Rach, J. F. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 1109.
- (209) Opitz, G.; Schempp, H. Z. Naturforsch. 1964, 19b, 78; Chem. *Abstr.* **1964**, *60*, 10675h.
- (210) Zubovics, Z.; Ishikawa, N. J. Fluorine Chem. 1976, 8, 43.
- (211) Rioult, P.; Vialle, J. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1967, 2883; Chem. Abstr. 1968, 68, 49486f.
- (212) Kohn, H.; Charumilind, P.; Gopichand, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 4691.
- (213) Paquette, L. A.; Wise, L. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 6659.
- (214) Rosnati, V.; Soccolini, F. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1979, 109, 623; Chem. Abstr. 1980, 93, 203540u.
- (215) Noyce, D. S.; Bastian, B. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1960, 82, 1246. (216) Flowers, W. T.; Freitas, A. M.; Holt, G.; Purkiss, S. C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1981, 1119.
- (217) Davies, H. M. L.; Crisco, L. V. T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 371
- (218) Nagai, T.; Tanaka, M.; Tokura, N. Tetrahedron Lett. 1968, 6293.
- (219) Stothers, J. B.; Danks, L. J.; King, J. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1971, 2551.
- (220) El-Zohry, M. F.; El-Khawaga, A. M.; Abdel-Wahab, A.-M. A. Phosphorus Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 1991, 59, 443.
- (221) Annen, K.; Hofmeister, H.; Laurent, H.; Hoyer, G.-A. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1989, 991. (222) Maheshwari, K. K.; Berchtold, G. A. Chem. Commun. 1969, 13.
- Lumma, W. C., Jr.; Berchtold, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, (223)89. 2761.
- (224) Lumma, W. C., Jr.; Berchtold, G. A. J. Org. Chem. 1969, 34, 1566.

- (225) Bolster, J.; Kellogg, R. M. J. Org. Chem. 1980, 45, 4804.
- (226) Bolster, J., Meinogg, R. M. J. Org. Chem. 1980, 40, 404.
 (226) Bolster, J. M.; Kellogg, R. M. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 4429.
 (227) Ando, W.; Hanya, Y.; Kumamoto, Y.; Takata, T. Tetrahedron, 1986, 42, 1989.
 (228) Er, E.; Margaretha, P. Helv. Chim. Acta 1992, 75, 2265.
 (220) Er, E.; Margaretha, P. Helv. Chim. Acta 1992, 76, 2265.
- (229) Kowalewski, R.; Margaretha, P. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 1993, *76*, 1251.
 (230) Miyashi, T.; Suto, N.; Yanaki, T.; Mukai, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1981**, 22, 4421.
- (231) Tsuruta, H.; Ogasawara, M.; Mukai, T. Chem. Lett. 1974, 887.
- (232) Ando, W.; Kumamoto, Y.; Takata, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985,
- 26, 5187. (233) Czauderna, B.; Jogun, K. H.; Stezowski, J. J.; Föhlisch, B. J.
- Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 6696. (234)Choi, N.; Kabe, Y.; Ando, W. Organometallics 1992, 11, 1506.
- Tokitoh, N.; Suzuki, T.; Ando, W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, (235)4271.
- (236)Tokitoh, N.; Imai, S.; Goto, M.; Ando, W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 4825.
- (237) Knaup, G.; Retzow, S. Ger. Offen. DE 19.505.934 1996; Chem. Abstr. 1996, 125, 221553j.
- (238) Hay, B. A. U. S. Pat. 4.851.548, 1989; Chem. Abstr. 1990, 112, 76922d.
- (239) Aldrich, P. E.; Berezin, G. H.; Dittmar, B. I. Ger. Offen. 2.516.554 1975; Chem. Abstr. 1976, 84, 74096s.
- (240) Luettringhaus, A.; Kabuss, S.; Prinzbach, H.; Langenbucher, F. Ann. 1962, 653, 195.; Chem. Abstr. 1962, 57, 9842b.
- (241) Ando, W.; Haniu, Y.; Takata, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981, 22, 4815. (242) Bushby, R. J.; Mann, S.; Jesudason, M. V. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin
- Trans. 1 1984, 2457. (243) Klages, C.-P.; Voss, J. Chem. Ber. 1980, 113, 2255.
- (244) Krebs, A.; Rüger, W.; Ziegenhagen, B.; Hebold, M.; Hardtke, I.;
- Müller, R.; Schütz, M.; Wietzke, M.; Wilke, M. Chem. Ber. 1984, 117. 277
- (245) Hioki, T.; Konishi, S.; Hanawa, R.; Kamiya, Y.; Yamamoto, T. Jpn. Kokai Tokkyo Koho JP 03 44.643 1991; Chem. Abstr. 1991, 115, 102878c.
- (246) Seitz, G.; Hoffmann, H.; Mikulla, W. D. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1974, 307, 483; Chem. Abstr. 1974, 81, 77752b.
- (247) Rodler, H.; Bauder, A. J. Mol. Struct. 1983, 47.
 (248) McIntosh, C. L.; De Mayo, P. Chem. Commun. 1969, 32.
- (249) King, J. F.; De Mayo, P.; McIntosh, C. L.; Piers, K.; Smith, D. J. H. Can. J. Chem. 1970, 48, 3704.
- (250) Langendries, R.; De Schryver, F. C.; De Mayo, P.; Marty, R. A.; Schutyser, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 2964
- (251)Funk, K. F.; Mayer, R. J. Prakt. Chem. 1963, 21, 65; Chem. Abstr. **1963**, *59*, 12751c.
- Föhlisch, B.; Czauderna, B. Phosphorus Sulfur 1978, 167. (252)
- Föhlisch, B.; Gottstein, W. J. Chem. Res. (S) 1981, 94; J. Chem. (253)
- Research (M) 1981, 1132. (254) Bushby, R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1976, 2590.

CR990134Z